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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Financial Statements
DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(unaudited)
April 29, 2017

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $96,463 and $97,461
Other assets:
Deferred line of credit financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $744 and $717
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $835 and $810
Deferred income taxes
Other non-current assets
Total other assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Line of credit borrowings
$
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred rent and other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, 1,656,381 shares authorized:
Series B junior participating preferred stock, $.01 par value; 300,000 shares authorized, none
outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, 13,986,725 and 14,010,417 shares issued and
outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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January 28, 2017

2,328
7,172
73,681
5,759
88,940
79,738
429
1,072
718
1,128
3,347
172,025

2,100
6,967
17,940
32,072
59,079
29,996
22,557
111,632

$

$

$

—
140
106,154
(45,831)
(70)
60,393
172,025 $

2,859
5,683
69,040
9,464
87,046
83,029
456
1,092
3,251
1,113
5,912
175,987

4,600
6,948
17,656
31,359
60,563
31,485
22,789
114,837

—
140
105,775
(44,693)
(72)
61,150
175,987

DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Store closing, asset impairment and asset disposal expenses
Other charges
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share— Basic
Average shares outstanding— Basic
Net income (loss) per share— Diluted
Average shares outstanding— Diluted

$

$
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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106,426
48,487
57,939
55,649
1,518
817
(45)
1,004
(1,049)
93
(1,142)
(0.08)
13,748
(0.08)
13,748

$

$
$
$

124,430
57,158
67,272
58,775
606
669
7,222
652
6,570
2,529
4,041
0.30
13,684
0.30
13,686

DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016

Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income (loss)

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(1,142) $
2
(1,140) $

4,041
2
4,043

DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Common Stock
Number
of
Shares

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Amount

Balance as of January 28, 2017
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Dividends forfeited
Stock-based compensation
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Balance as of April 29, 2017

14,010 $
—
—
—
(15)
(8)
13,987 $

140
—
—
—
—
—
140

$

Balance as of January 30, 2016
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Dividends forfeited
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options, net
Tax benefit shortfall from stock option exercises
and restricted stock vesting
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Balance as of April 30, 2016

13,825
—
—
—
150
1

$

138
—
—
—
2
—

$

—
(2)
13,974 $

—
—
140

$

$

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

105,775 $
—
—
—
414
(35)
106,154 $

(44,693) $
(1,142)
—
4
—
—
(45,831) $

(72) $
—
2
—
—
—
(70) $

61,150
(1,142)
2
4
414
(35)
60,393

104,784
—
—
—
456
3

$

(11,951) $
4,041
—
14
—
—

(73) $
—
2
—
—
—

92,898
4,041
2
14
458
3

(199)
(15)
105,029 $

—
—
(7,896) $

—
—
(71) $

(199)
(15)
97,202

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016

Operating Activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets
Loss on disposal of assets
Grow NJ award benefit
Deferred income tax benefit
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other non-current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred rent and other non-current liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Additions to intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
(Decrease) increase in cash overdraft
Decrease in line of credit borrowings
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Deferred financing costs paid
Withholding taxes on stock-based compensation paid in connection with repurchase of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash (received) paid for income taxes

$

4,041

4,461
414
1,346
94
2,533
—
103

4,386
458
411
102
(900)
(220)
51

(1,489)
(4,641)
3,705
(15)

(2,223)
(4,674)
1,766
(46)

1,474
(253)
6,590

(9,392)
281
(5,959)

(2,027)
—
(10)
(2,037)

(3,617)
2
(43)
(3,658)

$

(1,004)
(2,500)
—
(1,540)
(6)
(35)
—
(5,085)
1
(531)
2,859
2,328 $

$
$

893 $
(4,510) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(1,142) $

702
(19,600)
32,000
(715)
(1,094)
(15)
3
11,281
2
1,666
2,116
3,782
342
143

DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
1.

BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three months ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements for Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, and accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures have been
condensed or omitted. See the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended January 28, 2017 for Destination Maternity Corporation
and subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Destination Maternity”) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for additional disclosures
including a summary of the Company’s accounting policies.
In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to
present fairly the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company for the periods presented. Since the Company’s
operations are seasonal, the interim operating results of the Company may not be indicative of operating results for the full year. Certain prior year amounts
have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
The Company operates on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Saturday nearest January 31 of each year. References to the Company’s fiscal 2017
refer to the 53 week fiscal year, or periods within such fiscal year, which began January 29, 2017 and will end February 3, 2018. References to the Company’s
fiscal 2016 refer to the 52 week fiscal year, or periods within such fiscal year, which began January 31, 2016 and ended January 28, 2017.
On December 19, 2016 the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Orchestra-Prémaman S.A.
(“Orchestra”), a société anonyme organized under the laws of France, and US OP Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Orchestra (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company,
with the Company surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Orchestra (the “Merger”).
2.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS”) AND DIVIDENDS

Basic net income (loss) (or earnings) per share (“Basic EPS”) is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding, excluding restricted stock awards for which the restrictions have not lapsed. Diluted net income (loss) (or earnings) per share (“Diluted
EPS”) is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, after giving effect to the potential dilution,
if applicable, from the assumed lapse of restrictions on restricted stock and deferred stock unit awards, and from shares of common stock resulting from the
assumed exercise of outstanding stock options. Common shares issuable in connection with the award of performance-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”)
are excluded from the calculation of EPS until the RSUs’ performance conditions are achieved and the shares in respect of the RSUs become issuable (see
Note 12).
The following tables summarize the Basic EPS and Diluted EPS calculations (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
Net
Loss

Basic EPS
Incremental shares from the assumed exercise of outstanding
stock options
Incremental shares from the assumed lapse of restrictions on
restricted stock and deferred stock unit awards
Diluted EPS

$

Shares

(1,142)
—

$

April 30, 2016
Net
Income

EPS

13,748

$

(0.08)

$

—

—
(1,142)

—
13,748

$

(0.08)

$

Shares

EPS

4,041

13,684

—

1

—
4,041

1
13,686

$

0.30

$

0.30

In addition to performance-based RSUs, for the three months ended April 30, 2016 stock options and unvested restricted stock totaling approximately
1,045,000 shares were excluded from the calculation of Diluted EPS as their effect would have been
8

DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)
antidilutive. Stock options, unvested restricted stock and unvested deferred stock units totaling approximately 1,166,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock were outstanding as of April 29, 2017 but were not included in the computation of Diluted EPS for the three months ended April 29, 2017 due to the
Company’s net loss. Had the Company reported a profit for the three months ended April 29, 2017 the weighted average number of dilutive shares
outstanding for computation of Diluted EPS would have been approximately 13,776,000.
During the three months ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 $4,000 and $14,000, respectively, of previously declared and undistributed
dividends, for which payment was subject to completion of service requirements under restricted stock awards, were forfeited back to the Company in
connection with the cancellation of the awards.
3.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are recorded based on revenue recognized for sales of the Company’s merchandise and for other revenue earned by the Company
through its marketing partnership programs and international franchise agreements, and are non-interest bearing. The Company evaluates the collectability of
trade receivables based on a combination of factors, including aging of trade receivables, write-off experience, analysis of historical trends and expectations
of future performance. An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for the amount of trade receivables that are considered unlikely to be collected. When
the Company’s collection efforts are unsuccessful, uncollectible trade receivables are charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts. As of April 29,
2017 and January 28, 2017 the Company’s trade receivables were net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $166,000 and $163,000, respectively.
4.

INVENTORIES
Inventories were comprised of the following (in thousands):
April 29, 2017

Finished goods
Work-in-progress
Raw materials

$

73,085
158
438
73,681

$
5.

January 28, 2017

$

68,346
212
482
69,040

$

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities were comprised of the following (in thousands):
April 29, 2017

Employee compensation and benefits
Insurance, primarily self-insurance reserves
Deferred rent
Sales and use taxes
Gift certificates and store credits
Product return reserve
Accounting and legal
Accrued property and equipment additions
Income taxes payable
Other

$

$
6.

6,905
5,413
3,433
3,145
2,698
2,188
1,737
663
370
5,520
32,072

January 28, 2017

$

$

6,754
5,421
3,507
2,591
4,305
1,615
1,276
316
12
5,562
31,359

LINE OF CREDIT

After completion of a debt refinancing on March 25, 2016 the Company has a $70,000,000 senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Credit
Facility”), which was amended and restated in connection with the issuance of the Company’s $32,000,000 Term Loan (see
9
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)
Note 7). Previously the Credit Facility was $76,000,000 and consisted of two tranches: 1) a senior secured revolving credit and letter of credit facility of up to
$70,000,000 (“Tranche A”) and 2) a senior secured first-in, last-out revolving credit facility of up to $6,000,000 (“Tranche A-1”). On March 25, 2016
proceeds from the Term Loan were used to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Facility, including repayment of the entire
balance outstanding under Tranche A-1, which was then terminated. In connection with the Term Loan financing the maturity date of the Credit Facility was
extended from August 25, 2020 to March 25, 2021. Proceeds from advances under the Credit Facility, with certain restrictions may be used to provide
financing for working capital, letters of credit, capital expenditures, and other general corporate purposes. Effective December 19, 2016 the Company’s
Credit Facility lender consented to the Merger and the Credit Facility was amended to require a $10,000,000 EBITDA Reserve (as defined in the related
Credit Facility agreement) against availability under the Credit Facility. Effective April 7, 2017 the Credit facility was further amended to allow the
Company to enter into certain equipment financing arrangements, on the condition that a portion of the proceeds of such financing be applied as a
prepayment of the Term Loan (see Note 7). The amendment also provides for an additional reserve of $5,000,000 against availability under the Credit
Facility that will be reduced dollar for dollar for prepayments of the Term Loan in accordance with the amendment. On June 6, 2017 $3,401,000 of proceeds
from an equipment financing transaction (see Note 7) were used to prepay a portion of the Company’s Term Loan and to reduce the required additional
reserve to $1,599,000.
The Credit Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and representations and warranties. In the event that the outstanding balance
of the Term Loan exceeds the Term Loan Borrowing Base (as defined in the related Term Loan Agreement) then a reserve will be imposed against availability
under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility, as amended on April 7, 2017, also requires the Company to maintain minimum Excess Availability (as defined
in the related Credit Facility agreement) equal to the greater of 10% of the Combined Loan Cap (as defined in the Credit Facility agreement) or $10,000,000.
The Credit Facility is secured by a security interest in the Company’s trade receivables, inventory, letter of credit rights, cash, intangibles and certain other
assets. The interest rate on outstanding borrowings is equal to, at the Company’s election, either 1) the lender’s base rate plus the applicable margin, or 2) a
LIBOR rate plus the applicable margin. The applicable margin for base rate borrowings is 0.50% for Tranche A borrowings and was 2.00% for Tranche A-1
borrowings. The applicable margin for LIBOR rate borrowings is 1.50% for Tranche A borrowings and was 3.00% for Tranche A-1 borrowings. Tranche A-1
borrowings were deemed to be the first loans made and the last loans repaid. The Company also pays an unused line fee under the Credit Facility of
0.25% per annum. In connection with the original execution and subsequent amendments of the Credit Facility, the Company incurred deferred financing
costs of $1,173,000. These deferred financing costs are being amortized over the term of the Credit Facility agreement and included in “interest expense, net”
in the consolidated statements of operations.
As of April 29, 2017 the Company had $2,100,000 in outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and $5,827,000 in letters of credit, with
$14,729,000 of availability under the Credit Facility based on the Company’s Borrowing Base formula and minimum Excess Availability requirement. As of
April 30, 2016 the Company had $8,800,000 in outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and $5,753,000 in letters of credit, with $38,035,000 of
availability under the Credit Facility based on the Company’s Borrowing Base formula and minimum Excess Availability requirement. For the three months
ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 Tranche A borrowings had a weighted interest rate of 3.11% and 2.33%, respectively, per annum. For the three
months ended April 30, 2016 Tranche A-1 borrowings had a weighted interest rate of 3.56% per annum. During the three months ended April 29, 2017 and
April 30, 2016 the Company’s average level of direct borrowings under the Credit Facility was $11,138,000 and $26,604,000, respectively, and the
Company’s maximum borrowings at any time were $15,700,000 and $42,700,000, respectively.
7.

LONG-TERM DEBT

On March 25, 2016 the Company entered into a Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”) for a $32,000,000 term loan due
March 25, 2021 (the “Term Loan”), the proceeds of which were received on March 25, 2016 and were used to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness
under the Company’s existing Credit Facility (see Note 6). The interest rate on the Term Loan is equal to a LIBOR rate (with a 1.00% LIBOR floor) plus
7.50%. The Company is required to make minimum repayments of the principal amount of the Term Loan in quarterly installments of $800,000 each, with
the remaining outstanding balance payable on the maturity date. Additionally, the Term Loan can be prepaid at the Company's option subject to certain
restrictions, in part or in whole at any time, subject to the payment of a prepayment premium as follows: 1) 3% on or prior to the first anniversary of the
closing date, 2) 2% from the first anniversary to the second anniversary of the closing date, and 3) 1% after the second anniversary but on or prior to the third
anniversary of the closing date. Effective December 19, 2016 the Company’s Term Loan lenders consented to the Merger and the Term Loan Agreement was
amended to change the definition of Consolidated EBITDA (see below) to allow the Company to add back certain transaction costs relating to the Merger
and modified the financial covenant limiting capital expenditures (see below). Effective April 7, 2017 the Term Loan Agreement was further amended to
allow the Company to enter into certain equipment
10
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)
financing arrangements, on the condition that a portion of the proceeds of such financing be applied as a prepayment of the Term Loan. The April 7, 2017
Term Loan Agreement amendment also provides for an additional reserve of $5,000,000 against availability under the Credit Facility that will be reduced
dollar for dollar for prepayments of the Term Loan in accordance with the amendment (see Note 6) and eliminates the covenant requiring maintenance of a
minimum level of Consolidated EBITDA (see below). On June 6, 2017 $3,401,000 of proceeds from an equipment financing transaction (see below) were
used to prepay a portion of the Company’s Term Loan and to reduce the required additional reserve to $1,599,000.
The Term Loan is secured by a security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company, including accounts receivable, inventory, equipment,
letter of credit rights, cash, intellectual property and other intangibles, and certain other assets. The security interest granted to the Term Lenders is, in certain
respects, subordinate to the security interest granted to the Credit Facility Lender. The Term Loan Agreement prohibits the payment of dividends or share
repurchases by the Company for three years and imposes certain restrictions on the Company's ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness
and enter into other various types of transactions. The Term Loan Agreement, as amended on April 7, 2017, requires the Company to maintain Excess
Availability (as defined in the related Credit Facility agreement) equal to the greater of 10% of the Combined Loan Cap (as defined in the related Credit
Facility agreement) or $10,000,000. Prior to the April 7, 2017 Term Loan Agreement amendment, the Company was required to maintain quarterly
Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the related Term Loan Agreement) in an amount not less than the levels specified for each period in the Term Loan
Agreement up to $30,000,000 for the four fiscal quarters ending on February 1, 2020 and thereafter. For all periods prior to the elimination of the
Consolidated EBITDA covenant, the Company’s Consolidated EBITDA exceeded the Consolidated EBITDA requirements under the Term Loan Agreement.
The April 7, 2017 Term Loan Agreement amendment prohibits the Company from making capital expenditures (net of tenant allowances) in excess of a
specified amount in any period of four fiscal quarters (subject to carryforward of 50% of any underutilization). The limitation on capital expenditures ranges
from $16,000,000 for the four fiscal quarters ending on January 28, 2017 to $10,500,000 for the four fiscal quarters ending on February 3, 2018, and increases
to $17,000,000 for the four fiscal quarters ending on May 5, 2018 and thereafter. For the four fiscal quarters ended on April 29, 2017 the Company’s net
capital expenditures did not exceed the $14,625,000 limit. Any amounts outstanding under the Term Loan may be accelerated and become due and payable
immediately upon an event of default and expiration of any applicable cure period.
In connection with the execution of the Term Loan Agreement and subsequent amendments, the Company incurred deferred financing costs of
$1,497,000. These deferred financing costs are reflected as a direct deduction from the Term Loan liability in the consolidated balance sheets and are being
amortized over the term of the Term Loan Agreement and included in “interest expense, net” in the consolidated statements of operations.
As of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 there was $8,562,000 and $11,484,000, respectively, outstanding under a five-year equipment financing
arrangement with the Company’s Credit Facility bank. The equipment note bears annual interest at 3.38%, with payments of $272,000 (including interest)
due monthly through December 2019. The equipment note is collateralized by substantially all of the material handling equipment at the Company’s
distribution facility in Florence, New Jersey. Any amounts outstanding under the equipment note may be accelerated and become due and payable
immediately upon an event of default and expiration of any applicable cure period.
On June 6, 2017 the Company received $3,401,000 in proceeds from a three-year financing arrangement in the form of a sale and leaseback for certain
furniture, fixtures and software. Monthly payments under the leaseback arrangement are $123,000 for the first 24 months and $48,000 for months 25 to 36. At
the end of the leaseback term, the Company has the option to extend the lease for an additional year or to repurchase the financed property for a price to be
agreed. All of the proceeds from the transaction were used to prepay a portion of the Company’s Term Loan.
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(unaudited)
8.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The accounting standard for fair value measurements defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The standard establishes a framework for measuring fair value focused on exit
price and creates a fair value hierarchy in order to increase the consistency and comparability of fair value measurements as follows:
•

Level 1 – Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•

Level 2 – Observable market-based inputs or inputs that are corroborated by observable market data

•

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data

At both April 29, 2017 and January 28, 2017 the Company had cash equivalents of $4,000. The Company’s cash equivalents consist of investments in
money market funds for which the carrying value approximates fair value (based on Level 1 inputs) due to the short-term nature of those instruments. The
carrying values of trade receivables and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of those instruments.
The Company’s Credit Facility has variable interest rates that are tied to market indices. As of April 29, 2017 and January 28, 2017 the Company had
$2,100,000 and $4,600,000, respectively, of direct borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility. The carrying value of the Company’s Credit Facility
borrowings approximates fair value as the variable interest rates approximate current market rates, which the Company considers to be Level 2 inputs.
The Company’s Term Loan, which represents a significant majority of the Company’s long-term debt, bears interest at variable rates, which adjust
based on market conditions with a minimum annual rate of 8.50%. The carrying value of the Company’s Term Loan approximates fair value as the variable
interest rates approximate current market rates for similar instruments available to companies with comparable credit quality, which the Company considers
to be Level 2 inputs. The fair value of the Company’s fixed-rate equipment note was determined using a discounted cash flow analysis based on interest rates
currently available to the Company, which the Company considers to be Level 2 inputs. The difference between the carrying value and fair value of longterm debt held by the Company with a fixed rate of interest is not material.
9.

OTHER CHARGES

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015 the Company announced that it had received an unsolicited, non-binding preliminary merger proposal from
the Company’s largest shareholder, Orchestra, a France-based retailer of children’s wear. On December 19, 2016 the Company entered into the Merger
Agreement. The merger is expected to be completed during the third quarter of fiscal 2017. During the three months ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016
the Company incurred $814,000 and $221,000, respectively, of charges related to the merger proposal and Merger Agreement.
Prior to the completion of the Merger, the Company and Orchestra are evaluating opportunities for shared service arrangements. In connection
therewith the Company has entered into three agreements with Orchestra USA Inc. (“Orchestra USA”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Orchestra, to commence
in fiscal 2017, under which the Company may provide real estate and construction project consulting services and may purchase infant and childrenswear
merchandise for sale in certain of the Company’s stores. Orchestra USA will pay the Company up to $65,000 for each fully-executed real estate lease and pay
up to $34,000 for each fully-completed construction project. The Company’s cost for merchandise under the product purchase agreement will be agreed on
an order-by-order basis. For the first quarter of fiscal 2017 the Company recognized $10,000 of revenue for real estate consulting services, for which payment
was received in May 2017.
Subsequent to the appointment of Anthony M. Romano as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) in August 2014, the Company
commenced a program to evaluate its business processes, key management personnel and planning resources. In connection with this evaluation, the
Company has implemented changes with a focus on improving inventory management, driving sales productivity, optimizing real estate and controlling
costs. The Company implemented an improved product life cycle calendar in fiscal 2015, completed the implementation of a new planning and allocation
tool in fiscal 2016 and completed a re-platforming of reach of its e-commerce sites during the first quarter of fiscal 2017, as it continues to improve its
planning and allocation methodologies and e-commerce platform. The Company’s real estate strategy includes increased focus on the Company’s two key
maternity apparel brands with strategic phase-out and elimination of certain non-core brands and business relationships. During the three months ended April
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29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 the Company incurred $3,000 and $448,000, respectively, of charges related to these management and organizational changes.
A summary of the charges incurred in connection with the proposed business combination and the management and organizational changes is as
follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016
Proposed Business Combination

Legal and other professional fees

$

814

$

221

Management and Organizational Changes

Severance and related benefits
Non-core brand contract termination
Consulting fees
Total management and organizational changes

3
—
—
3

Total other charges
10.

$

817

118
325
5
448
$

669

GOVERNMENT INCENTIVES

In September 2013 the Company announced its plans to relocate its corporate headquarters and distribution operations from Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania to southern New Jersey (the “Project”). The Company completed the relocation of its corporate headquarters in January 2015 and completed
the relocation of its distribution operations in August 2015. To partially offset the costs of these relocations, the Board of the New Jersey Economic
Development Authority (“NJEDA”) approved the Company for an incentive package of up to $40,000,000 in benefits under the Grow New Jersey Assistance
Program (“Grow NJ”) in the form of transferrable income tax credits over a ten-year period from the State of New Jersey. The Company’s Grow NJ award
required a minimum capital investment of $20,000,000 with the total potential award being equal to the total eligible capital investment in the Project and
subject to an overall award limit of $40,000,000. The award provides annually over a ten-year period up to $7,000 per eligible new full-time job, as defined
under Grow NJ, with a requirement that at least 100 eligible jobs were created and subject to an annual award limit of $4,000,000.
The Grow NJ award will be earned on an annual basis over the ten-year period, subject to the $4,000,000 annual award limit, and requires an annual
compliance report that includes certification of average annual employment figures after the end of each fiscal year. After the end of the ten-year Grow NJ
award earnings period there is a five-year compliance period during which the Company must maintain the average of its annual eligible jobs certified during
the preceding ten years or a pro-rata amount up to one-tenth of the previously awarded income tax credits would be subject to recapture and repayment to the
State of New Jersey annually during the five-year compliance period. The Company believes the likelihood of any recapture and repayment is remote.
The annual benefit from the Grow NJ award available to the Company is expected to significantly exceed the Company’s annual income tax liability
to the State of New Jersey. In order to maximize the realizable value of the incentive package, in December 2013 the Company entered into an agreement
with a third party to sell 75% or more of the annual income tax credits awarded to the Company. The Company recognizes its Grow NJ award on an annual
basis for each fiscal year based on the realizable value of the award earned and expected to be received, primarily from the sale of the income tax credits, net
of any associated costs. The Grow NJ award is reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as a reduction to the costs incurred by the
Company in connection with the relocations. The Grow NJ award earned is reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as a reduction to the
costs incurred by the Company in connection with the relocations. The expected realizable amount of the Grow NJ award is included in the consolidated
balance sheet in deferred income taxes. In April 2017 the Company received $3,251,000 cash proceeds, net of costs, from the receipt and subsequent sale of
the $3,612,000 tax credit certificate earned for fiscal 2016. During the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 the Company recognized $718,000 and
$900,000, respectively, of cost reduction related to the Grow NJ award, of which $713,000 and $763,000, respectively, is included in the consolidated
statements of operations, including reductions of cost of goods sold of $514,000 and $512,000, respectively, and reductions of selling, general and
administrative expenses of $199,000 and $251,000, respectively. Additionally, $815,000 and $810,000, is included in the consolidated balance sheets as of
April 29, 2017 and January 28, 2017, respectively, as a reduction to overhead in inventory.
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11.

INCOME TAXES

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740, Income Taxes, requires that a valuation allowance be recorded to reduce deferred tax assets
when it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The evaluation includes the consideration of all available
evidence, both positive and negative, regarding historical operating results including recent years with reported losses, the estimated timing of future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, estimated future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards, and
potential tax planning strategies which may be employed to prevent an operating loss or tax credit carryforward from expiring unused. In situations where a
three-year cumulative loss condition exists, accounting standards limit the ability to consider projections of future results as positive evidence to assess the
realizability of deferred tax assets. In fiscal 2016 the Company’s financial results reflected a three-year cumulative loss. The three-year cumulative loss
constituted significant negative evidence, limiting the Company’s ability to consider other positive evidence, such as the Company’s projections for future
growth. Consequently, the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of April 29, 2017 and January 28, 2017 include a valuation allowance of $28,182,000
and $27,758,000, respectively, against substantially all of its deferred tax assets. The establishment of this valuation allowance has no effect on the
Company’s ability to utilize the deferred tax assets to offset future taxable income, if generated. As required by generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States (“GAAP”), the Company will continue to assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be realizable in the future and, accordingly,
the valuation allowance was increased by a non-cash charge to income tax expense of $424,000 in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. The tax benefits relating to
any reversal of the valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets in a future period will be recognized as a reduction of future income tax expense in that
period.
As of April 29, 2017 the Company had $764,000 of unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain income tax positions, including accrued interest
and penalties of $336,000. The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax provision. If recognized, the
portion of the liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits that would impact the Company’s effective tax rate was $555,000, net of federal benefit.
During the 12 months subsequent to April 29, 2017 it is reasonably possible that the gross unrecognized tax benefits could potentially decrease by
approximately $383,000 (of which approximately $271,000 would affect the effective tax rate, net of federal expense) for uncertain tax positions, primarily
from the effect of expiring statutes of limitations, partially offset by the continued effect of interest on unrecognized tax benefits.
The Company’s United States Federal income tax returns for years ended September 30, 2012 and thereafter remain subject to examination by the
United States Internal Revenue Service. The Company also files tax returns in Canada, India, Kuwait and numerous United States state jurisdictions, which
have varying statutes of limitations. Generally, Canadian tax returns for tax years ended September 30, 2008 and thereafter, Indian tax returns for tax years
ended March 31, 2010 and thereafter, and United States state tax returns for tax years ended September 30, 2012 and thereafter, depending upon the
jurisdiction, remain subject to examination. However, the statutes of limitations on certain of the Company’s United States state tax returns remain open for
years prior to fiscal 2012.
12.

EQUITY AWARD PLANS

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors established performance goals for the award of performance-based RSUs for the
Company’s executive officers, under the Amended and Restated Destination Maternity Corporation 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, in each of August 2016 and
April 2016 (collectively the “Fiscal 2016 Awards”) and April 2015 (the “Fiscal 2015 Awards”). The RSUs earned, if any, under the awards will be based on
the Company’s cumulative adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the applicable award agreement (“RSU Adjusted EBITDA”) for a specified three-year period
(“Performance Period”). The grant of any RSUs under these awards will generally be further contingent on the continued employment of the executive
officers with the Company through the dates on which the shares in respect of these RSUs, if any, are issued following the end of the applicable Performance
Periods, as well as the achievement of certain minimum levels of RSU Adjusted EBITDA in the final fiscal year of each applicable Performance Period. The
additional RSUs, if any, will be earned on the same terms as the original RSUs.
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The following table sets forth the aggregate minimum, target and maximum RSUs, that may be earned by the executive officers for each fiscal year
award cycle.

Awards

Performance Period

Minimum RSUs

Fiscal 2016 Awards
Fiscal 2015 Awards

January 31, 2016 to February 2, 2019
February 1, 2015 to February 3, 2018

13,698
15,218

Target RSUs

54,789
30,436

Maximum RSUs

82,815
45,655

Fiscal 2015 Awards include the prorated number of RSUs that may be earned by the Company’s former President and exclude RSUs forfeited by the
Company’s former Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer. During fiscal 2016 the Company determined that the Fiscal 2016 Awards and Fiscal
2015 Awards were unlikely to be earned, even at the minimum level.
During the three months ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 certain vesting restricted stock awards were net-share settled by the Company such
that the Company withheld shares of the Company’s common stock, which had a fair market value equivalent to the minimum statutory obligation for the
applicable income and employment taxes for the awards, and the Company remitted the cash value to the appropriate taxing authorities. The total shares
withheld in connection with the tax obligations, which were approximately 8,000 and 2,000 shares, respectively, during the three months ended April 29,
2017 and April 30, 2016, are reflected as repurchase of common stock in the accompanying financial statements, and were based on the value of the
Company’s common stock on the vesting date. The remaining shares, net of those withheld, were delivered to the award holders. Total payments for tax
obligations to the tax authorities were $35,000 and $15,000 for the three months ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, respectively.
13.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE
a. Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2016 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-09, Compensation Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU No. 2016-09 affects all entities that issue share-based
payment awards to their employees. ASU No. 2016-09 simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the
income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows, including recognizing all
excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement rather than in additional paid-in capital. The Company
adopted ASU No. 2016-09 effective January 29, 2017 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.
In November 2015 the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. To simplify the
presentation of deferred income taxes, ASU No. 2015-17 requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of
financial position. The Company adopted ASU No. 2015-17 effective January 29, 2017 and applied the required reclassifications on a retrospective basis.
Accordingly, in the consolidated balance sheet as of January 28, 2017, $3,251,000 of deferred tax assets were reclassified from current assets to other assets.
The adoption of ASU No. 2015-17 did not have any impact on the Company’s net consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In July 2015 the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. ASU No. 2015-11 changes the
measurement principle for inventory from the lower of cost or market to the lower of cost and net realizable value. The Company adopted ASU No. 2015-11
effective January 29, 2017 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.
b. Proposed Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2017 the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting. ASU 2017-09
provides guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in
Topic 718. ASU No. 2017-09 is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods
within those years. Earlier application is permitted. The
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impact from adoption of the new requirements of ASU No. 2017-09 on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations has not yet
been determined.
In October 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory. ASU No. 201616 amends the accounting for income taxes and requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intercompany asset transfer, other than
transfers of inventory, when the transfer occurs. For intercompany transfers of inventory, the income tax effects will continue to be deferred until the
inventory has been sold to a third party. ASU No. 2016-16 is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2017 and interim periods within those years, using a modified retrospective application method through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to
retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. Earlier application is permitted. The impact from adoption of the new requirements of ASU
No. 2016-16 on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations has not yet been determined.
In August 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments. ASU No. 2016-15 clarifies and provides guidance on eight specific cash flow classification issues and is intended to reduce existing diversity in
practice in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-15 is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those years. Earlier application is permitted, provided that all of the
amendments are adopted in the same period. The adoption of the new requirements of ASU No. 2016-15 will not have any impact on the Company’s net
consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In February 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU No. 2016-02 affects any entity that enters into a lease (as that term is
defined in the ASU) and its guidance supersedes Topic 840, Leases. As it substantively relates to the Company, ASU No. 2016-02 requires lessees to
recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments, in the statement of financial position. For
finance leases, lessees are required to recognize interest on the lease liability separately from amortization of the right-of-use asset in the statement of
comprehensive income and to classify repayments of the principal portion of the lease liability within financing activities and payments of interest on the
lease liability and variable lease payments within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. For operating leases, lessees are required to recognize a
single lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term on a generally straight-line basis, and to classify all cash payments
within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. In transition, lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest
period presented using a modified retrospective approach. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those years. Earlier application is permitted. While the Company is still evaluating this
standard, given the significant number of leases the Company is party to, the Company expects this standard will have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets from the recognition of right-of-use assets and related liabilities but does not expect it to have a material impact on the
consolidated statements of operations.
In May 2014 the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). ASU No. 2014-09 requires an entity to
recognize revenue for the amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. Additionally,
ASU No. 2014-09 requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue
that is recognized. The standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in GAAP when it becomes effective. ASU No. 2014-09 is effective
for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those years. In August 2015 the
FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date which deferred the effective date of ASU
No. 2014-09 by one year, making the guidance effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption will be permitted, but not earlier
than the original effective date for annual and interim periods. The Company will adopt the new guidance beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and
has not yet determined if application of the new standard will be retrospective to each prior reporting period presented or as a cumulative effect adjustment as
of the date of adoption. The impact from adoption of the new requirements of ASU No. 2014-09 on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results
of operations has not yet been determined.
c. Change in Accounting Principle
The Company sells gift cards to its customers in its retail stores, through its websites and through select third parties. The portion of gift cards sold to
customers which are never redeemed is commonly referred to as gift card breakage. Prior to fiscal 2017 the Company recognized revenue from gift card
breakage after it determined that any legal obligation to report and remit the value
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associated with abandoned property had been satisfied. The Company has accumulated a significant amount of historical data from its past gift card
transactions, allowing it to reasonably and objectively determine the pattern of gift card redemptions and a related estimated gift card breakage rate. In the
first quarter of fiscal 2017 the Company has elected to record revenue from gift card breakage over the period of, and in proportion to, the actual redemptions
of gift cards based on the Company’s historical breakage. The Company believes this method is preferable as it better reflects the gift card earnings process
resulting in the recognition of gift card breakage income over the period of gift card redemptions (i.e., over the performance period).
The Company has determined that this accounting change represents a change in accounting estimate effected by a change in accounting principle. In
accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 250 related to such accounting changes, during the first quarter of fiscal 2017 the Company recognized
$764,000 of revenue as a cumulative adjustment for the accounting change.
14.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company is named as a defendant in legal actions arising from normal business activities. Litigation is inherently
unpredictable, and although the amount of any liability that could arise with respect to currently pending actions cannot be accurately predicted, the
Company does not believe that the resolution of any pending action will have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.
15.

SEGMENT AND ENTERPRISE WIDE DISCLOSURES

Operating Segment. For purposes of the disclosure requirements for segments of a business enterprise, the Company has determined that its business is
comprised of one operating segment: the design, manufacture and sale of maternity apparel and related accessories. While the Company offers a wide range of
products for sale, the substantial portion of its products are initially distributed through the same distribution facilities, many of the Company’s products are
manufactured at common contract manufacturer production facilities, the Company’s products are marketed through a common marketing department, and
these products are sold to a similar customer base consisting of expectant mothers.
Geographic Information. Geographic revenue information is allocated based on the country in which the products or services are sold, and in the case
of international franchise revenues, on the location of the customer. Information concerning the Company’s operations by geographic area was as follows (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016
Net Sales

United States
Foreign

$

100,429
5,997

$

April 29, 2017

116,286
8,144

January 28, 2017

Long-Lived Assets

United States
Foreign

$

78,670
2,140

$

81,811
2,310

Major Customers. For the periods presented, the Company did not have any one customer who represented more than 10% of its net sales.
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16.

INTEREST EXPENSE, NET
Interest expense, net was comprised of the following (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016

Interest expense
Interest income
Interest expense, net

$
$

18

1,005
(1)
1,004

$
$

652
—
652

Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We operate on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Saturday nearest January 31 of each year. References in this discussion to our fiscal 2017 refer to
the 53 week fiscal year, or periods within such fiscal year, which began January 29, 2017 and will end February 3, 2018. References to our fiscal 2016 refer to
the 52 week fiscal year, or periods within such fiscal year, which began January 31, 2016 and ended January 28, 2017.
Overview
We are the leading designer and retailer of maternity apparel in the United States with 1,157 retail locations, including 511 stores in the United States,
Canada and Puerto Rico, and 646 leased departments located within department stores and baby specialty stores throughout North America. We also sell
merchandise on the Internet, primarily through our brand-specific websites, motherhood.com and apeainthepod.com, as well as through our
destinationmaternity.com website. We have store franchise and product supply relationships in the Middle East, South Korea, Mexico, Israel and India. As of
April 29, 2017 we have 219 international franchised locations, including 19 stand-alone stores operated under one of our retail nameplates and 200 shop-inshop locations.
In assessing the performance of our business, we consider a variety of operational and financial measures. The key measures for determining how our
business is performing are net income (loss) determined in accordance with GAAP (“net income (loss)”) and the corresponding net income (loss) (or earnings
(loss)) per share (diluted), net income (loss) before certain charges or credits, when applicable, such as other charges, loss on extinguishment of debt, and
certain infrequent income tax adjustments (“adjusted net income (loss)”) and the corresponding earnings (loss) per share (diluted), Adjusted EBITDA (defined
below), Adjusted EBITDA before other charges, net sales, and comparable sales. Adjusted EBITDA represents operating income (loss) before deduction for
the following non-cash charges: 1) depreciation and amortization expense, 2) loss on impairment of tangible and intangible assets, 3) loss on disposal of
assets, and 4) stock-based compensation expense.
Comparable sales figures represent sales at retail locations (which does not include licensed brand or international franchise relationships) that have
been in operation by us for at least 13 full months, as well as Internet sales. Our comparable sales figures generally do not include: 1) retail locations which
change location type or format, 2) retail locations which are expanded, contracted or relocated if the square footage of the retail location has changed by 20%
or more, or, if in the judgment of management, such expansion, contraction or relocation materially alters the comparability of the retail location (either with
respect to the manner of its operation or otherwise), 3) in the case of relocations only, retail locations which are not in the same immediate geographical
vicinity (such as, without limitation, the same mall, the same part of a mall, or the same street) after the relocation, 4) retail locations that have temporarily
closed for any reason for 30 days or more, or 5) retail locations which, in the judgment of management, have undergone other significant changes which
materially alter the comparability of the retail location (either with respect to the manner of its operation or otherwise) (such as, for example only, in the case
of closure of retail locations in connection with the cessation of a leased department relationship where the manner of operation of such retail location has
been materially altered prior to closure, or in the case of construction in, on or near a retail location, which significantly interferes with the customer traffic,
visibility or operation of a retail location). There may be variations in the way in which other retailers calculate comparable sales. As a result, data in this
quarterly report regarding our comparable sales may not be comparable to similar data made available by other retailers.
Agreement and Plan of Merger
On December 19, 2016 we entered into the Merger Agreement, pursuant to which, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, a
subsidiary of Orchestra will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Orchestra. The Merger is
expected to close during the third quarter of fiscal 2017 or as soon as possible thereafter.
For a more detailed summary of the Merger Agreement, see our discussion in Item 1. Business – Recent Developments of our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended January 28, 2017.
Except to the extent that the context requires otherwise, the information in this Form 10-Q has been presented as if the Company were continuing as a
stand-alone Company and does not address changes that may take place if the Merger is completed.
Turnaround Plan
Late in fiscal 2014, we commenced a program, which we sometimes refer to as our “turnaround plan” or “turnaround” to improve our business
processes, key management personnel and planning resources with a focus on improving inventory management, driving sales productivity, optimizing real
estate and controlling costs. The real estate component of our turnaround
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includes increased focus on our two key maternity apparel brands with strategic phase-out and elimination of certain non-core brands and business
relationships.
Although we have made some progress, we have experienced challenges in implementing our turnaround given the overall weakness in the women’s
specialty apparel retail space, declining mall-based traffic, and other factors. These challenges have led to a slower pace of progress than originally planned,
resulting in a decline in net sales from fiscal 2016 and underperformance to 2017 expectations.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and 2016 we incurred $3 thousand and $0.4 million, respectively, of charges related to our turnaround plan.
Change in Accounting Principle
We sell gift cards to our customers in our retail stores, through our websites and through select third parties. The portion of gift cards sold to customers
which are never redeemed is commonly referred to as gift card breakage. Prior to fiscal 2017 we recognized revenue from gift card breakage after we
determined that any legal obligation to report and remit the value associated with abandoned property had been satisfied. We have accumulated a significant
amount of historical data from our past gift card transactions, allowing us to reasonably and objectively determine the pattern of gift card redemptions and a
related estimated gift card breakage rate. In the first quarter of fiscal 2017 we have elected to record revenue from gift card breakage over the period of, and in
proportion to, the actual redemptions of gift cards based on our historical breakage. We believe this method is preferable as it better reflects the gift card
earnings process resulting in the recognition of gift card breakage income over the period of gift card redemptions (i.e., over the performance period).
We have determined that this accounting change represents a change in accounting estimate effected by a change in accounting principle. In
accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 250 related to such accounting changes, during the first quarter of fiscal 2017 we recognized $0.8 million of
revenue as a cumulative adjustment for the accounting change.
Leased Department and Licensed Relationships
As previously announced, in an effort to direct resources to the highest return opportunities and further optimize real estate while reducing costs, we
discontinued our Two Hearts® Maternity by Destination Maternity ® line, thus ending our relationship with Sears in June 2016, resulting in the closure of
475 leased departments within Sears stores during fiscal 2016. In addition, our leased department relationship with Gordmans ended in March 2016, resulting
in the closure of 100 leased departments within Gordmans stores. We also phased out production of our Oh Baby by Motherhood ® line during fiscal 2016
after being informed that Kohl’s elected to scale back and ultimately discontinue its exclusive license with us for this line. Our license agreement with Kohl’s
ended in February 2017. Even after the end of these relationships, we remain well positioned to service the needs of our customers through our own stores, as
well as through our other leased departments and our various websites.
First Quarter Fiscal 2017 Financial Results
Presented below is a summary of our results for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 with regard to each of the key measures noted above:
•

Net loss for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 was $1.1 million, or $0.08 per share (diluted), compared to net income of $4.0 million, or $0.30 per
share (diluted), for the first quarter of fiscal 2016.

•

Net loss for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 includes the $0.4 million non-cash income tax charge related to a change in the valuation allowance
against net deferred tax assets, revenue of $0.5 million, net of tax, or $0.03 per share (diluted), related to a cumulative adjustment for a change
in accounting principle, and other charges of $0.5 million, net of tax, or $0.04 per share (diluted), related to the Merger. Net income for the first
quarter of fiscal 2016 includes other charges of 1) $0.3 million, net of tax, or $0.02 per share (diluted), related to management and
organizational changes and 2) $0.1 million, net of tax, or $0.01 per share (diluted), related to a proposed business combination.

•

Adjusted net loss for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 was $0.7 million, or $0.05 per share (diluted), compared to the comparably adjusted net
income for the first quarter of fiscal 2016 of $4.5 million, or $0.33 per share (diluted).

•

Adjusted EBITDA was $6.3 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2017, a decrease of 50.2% compared to $12.6 million of Adjusted EBITDA for
the first quarter of fiscal 2016.
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•

Adjusted EBITDA before other charges and effect of change in accounting principle was $6.3 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2017, a
decrease of 52.3% compared to $13.2 million of Adjusted EBITDA before other charges for the first quarter of fiscal 2016.

•

Net sales for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 decreased 14.5% to $106.4 million from $124.4 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2016.

•

Comparable sales for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 decreased 7.3% compared to a comparable sales decrease of 5.4% for the first quarter of
fiscal 2016.

•

Net sales for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 includes $0.8 million related to a change in the method of accounting for gift card breakage.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain operating data as a percentage of net sales and as a percentage change for the three months ended April 29, 2017
and April 30, 2016:

% of Net Sales (1)
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017

Net sales
Cost of goods sold (2)
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses (3)
Store closing, asset impairment and asset disposal
expenses
Other charges
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income (loss)

100.0 %
45.6
54.4
52.3
1.4
0.8
(0.1 )
0.9
(1.0 )
0.1
(1.1 )%

April 30, 2016

% Change Period to
Period Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017 vs.
April 30, 2016

100.0 %
45.9
54.1
47.2

(14.5 )%
15.2
(13.9 )
5.3

0.5
0.5
5.8
0.5
5.3
2.0
3.2 %

(150.5 )
(22.1 )
(100.6 )
(54.0 )
(116.0 )
96.3
(128.3 )%

(1)

Components may not add to total due to rounding.

(2)

“Cost of goods sold” includes merchandise costs (including customs duty expenses), expenses related to inventory shrinkage, product related
corporate expenses (including expenses related to our payroll, benefit costs and operating expenses of our buying departments), inventory reserves
(including lower of cost or net realizable value reserves), inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, distribution center
costs (including occupancy expenses and equipment depreciation), internal transfer costs, and the other costs of our distribution network, partially
offset by the allocable amount of our Grow NJ benefit.

(3)

“Selling, general and administrative expenses” includes advertising and marketing expenses, corporate administrative expenses, corporate
headquarters occupancy expenses, store expenses (including store payroll and store occupancy expenses), and store opening expenses, partially offset
by the allocable amount of our Grow NJ benefit.
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The following tables set forth certain information concerning the number of our retail locations and international franchised locations for the periods
indicated. Retail locations include stores and maternity apparel leased departments and exclude locations where Kohl’s sold our products under an exclusive
product and license agreement, and international franchised locations.
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017

Retail Locations (1)

Beginning of period
Opened
Closed (2)
End of period

Leased
Departments

Stores

515
4
(8 )
511

705
—
(59 )
646

April 30, 2016
Total
Retail
Locations

1,220
4
(67 )
1,157

Leased
Departments

Stores

536
2
(8 )
530

1,279
1
(323 )
957

Total
Retail
Locations

1,815
3
(331 )
1,487

(1)

Excludes international franchised locations and locations where Kohl’s sold our products under an exclusive product and license agreement, which
ended in February 2017.

(2)

During the three months ended April 29, 2017 Macy’s completed closure of 59 stores where we had a leased department within the store. During the
three months ended April 30, 2016 we closed 222 leased departments within Sears stores and 100 leased departments within Gordmans stores.
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017

International Franchised Locations

Beginning of period
Opened
Closed
End of period

Shop-inShop
Locations

Stores

19
—
—
19

194
8
(2 )
200

April 30, 2016
Total
International
Franchised
Locations

213
8
(2 )
219

Shop-inShop
Locations

Stores

25
—
(2 )
23

168
13
(1 )
180

Total
International
Franchised
Locations

193
13
(3 )
203

Three Months Ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016
Net Sales. Our net sales for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 decreased by 14.5%, or $18.0 million, to $106.4 million from $124.4 million for the first
quarter of fiscal 2016. Comparable sales for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 decreased 7.3% compared to a comparable sales decrease of 5.4% for the first
quarter of fiscal 2016. The decrease in total reported sales for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2016 resulted primarily from
the decrease in comparable sales, decreased leased department and licensed sales, reflecting the wind down of the Kohl’s, Sears and Gordmans relationships
and the closure of Macy’s stores in which we had a leased department within the store, and the closure of underperforming stores, partially offset by
recognition of $0.8 million of revenue related to the change in our method of accounting for gift card breakage. The primary drivers of the comparable sales
decrease were a decrease in our average selling prices from higher promotional activity, and decreased store traffic, partially offset by higher unit sales and
improved conversion rates.
Gross Profit. Our gross profit for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 decreased by 13.9%, or $9.3 million, to $57.9 million from $67.3 million for the first
quarter of fiscal 2016, and our gross profit as a percentage of net sales (gross margin) for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 was 54.4% compared to 54.1% for the
first quarter of fiscal 2016. The decrease in gross profit for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2016 was primarily due to our
lower sales volume as a result of the factors discussed above. The year-over-year increase in gross margin reflects our exit from former leased department and
licensed relationships, which had historically generated lower than average gross margins.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 decreased by
5.3%, or approximately $3.2 million, to $55.6 million from $58.8 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2016. As a percentage of net sales, selling, general and
administrative expenses increased to 52.3% for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 from 47.2% for the first quarter of fiscal 2016. The decrease in expense for the
quarter primarily reflects cost reductions resulting from our continued closure of underperforming stores, the wind down of the Kohl’s, Sears and Gordmans
relationships and other headcount reductions, and lower variance incentive compensation, partially offset by higher marketing and advertising expense. The
increase in expense percentage for the three-month period reflects the unfavorable leverage from our decreased sales due to the relatively fixed nature of
much of our expenses.
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Store Closing, Asset Impairment and Asset Disposal Expenses. Our store closing, asset impairment and asset disposal expenses for the first quarter of
fiscal 2017 increased by $0.9 million, to $1.5 million from $0.6 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2016, reflecting higher impairment charges for writedowns of long-lived assets.
Other Charges. In the first quarter of fiscal 2017 we incurred other charges of $0.8 million primarily for legal and advisory fees related to the Merger.
In the first quarter of fiscal 2016 we incurred other charges totaling $0.7 million consisting of $0.5 million related to management and organizational
changes and $0.2 million related to the Merger. The other charges related to management and organizational changes were primarily for costs to terminate a
non-core apparel brand relationship, and to a lesser extent, severance and other benefits.
Operating Income (Loss). We had an operating loss of $45 thousand for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to operating income of $7.2 million
for the first quarter of fiscal 2016. The $7.3 million decrease in operating income reflects our lower gross profit as a result of the decline in sales volume,
partially offset by our 5.3% reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses.
Interest Expense, Net. Our net interest expense for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 increased to $1.0 million from $0.7 million for the first quarter of
fiscal 2016. This increase was due to our Term Loan, partially offset by a reduction in the principal balance due under our equipment note and lower average
borrowings under our Credit Facility during the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2016.
Income Tax Provision. For the first quarter of fiscal 2017 our income tax provision was $0.1 million. In the first quarter of fiscal 2017 we recorded a
noncash charge of $0.4 million to increase the valuation allowance against substantially all of our deferred tax assets. Excluding the effect of the valuation
allowance charge, our effective tax benefit rate for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 was 31.6%. This rate is lower than the statutory federal tax rate of 35%
primarily due to certain state minimum income taxes and the impact from recognizing tax deficiencies from share-based payment awards as income tax
expense rather than in additional paid-in capital, as required by the adoption of ASU No. 2016-09. For the first quarter of fiscal 2016 our effective tax rate was
38.5%. Our effective tax rate was higher than the statutory federal tax rate of 35% primarily due to state income tax benefits, net of federal expense.
Net Income (Loss). Net loss for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 was $1.1 million, or $0.08 per share (diluted), compared to net income of $4.0 million,
or $0.30 per share (diluted), for the first quarter of fiscal 2016. Net loss for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 includes a $0.4 million non-cash income tax charge
related to a change in the valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets, revenue of $0.5 million, net of tax, related to a cumulative adjustment for the
effect of a change in accounting principle, and other charges of $0.5 million, net of tax, related to the Merger. Net income for the first quarter of fiscal 2016
includes other charges of $0.3 million, net of tax, related to management and organizational changes and $0.1 million, net of tax, related to the Merger.
Our average diluted shares outstanding of 13.7 million were approximately the same for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and the first quarter of fiscal
2016.
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Following is a reconciliation of net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share (diluted) (“Diluted EPS”) to adjusted net income (loss) and adjusted
Diluted EPS for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
Diluted
Shares

Net
Loss

As reported
Other charges for proposed business combination
Other charges for management and organizational changes
Income tax effect of other charges (1) (2)
Effect of change in accounting principle
Income tax effect of change in accounting principle (3)
Deferred tax valuation allowance related to cumulative losses
As adjusted

$ (1,142 )
814
3
(306 )
(764 )
284
424
$
(687 )

13,748
—
—
—
—
—
—
13,748

Diluted
EPS

Net
Income

$

(0.08 )

$

$

(0.05 )

$

April 30, 2016
Diluted
Shares

4,041
221
448
(256 )
—
—
—
4,454

13,686
—
—
—
—
—
—
13,686

Diluted
EPS

$

0.30

$

0.33

(1)

For the first quarter of fiscal 2017 income tax effect of other charges includes $305 related to the Merger and $1 related to management and
organizational changes, which represent the differences in income tax provision calculated with and without the specified pretax expense.

(2)

For the first quarter of fiscal 2016 income tax effect of other charges includes $171 related to management and organizational changes and $85 related
to the Merger, which represent the differences in income tax provision calculated with and without the specified pretax expense.

(3)

For the first quarter of fiscal 2017 income tax effect of change in accounting principle represents the difference in income tax provision calculated
with and without the specified pretax income.

Following is a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA before other charges and effect of change in accounting
principle for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
April 29, 2017
April 30, 2016

Net income (loss)
Add: income tax provision
Add: interest expense, net
Operating income (loss)
Add: depreciation and amortization expense
Add: loss on impairment of long-lived assets
Add: loss on disposal of assets
Add: stock-based compensation expense
Adjusted EBITDA
Add: other charges for proposed business combination
Add: other charges for management and organizational changes
Less: effect of change in accounting principle
Adjusted EBITDA before other charges and effect of change in
accounting principle

$

(1,142)
93
1,004
(45)
4,461
1,346
94
414
6,270
814
3
(764)

$

4,041
2,529
652
7,222
4,386
411
102
458
12,579
221
448
—

$

6,323

$

13,248

Regulation G Disclosures
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains non-GAAP financial measures within the meaning
of the SEC’s Regulation G, including: 1) Adjusted net income (loss), 2) Adjusted net income (loss) per share (diluted), 3) Adjusted EBITDA (operating
income (loss) before deduction for the following non-cash charges: (i) depreciation and amortization expense, (ii) loss on impairment of tangible and
intangible assets, (iii) loss on disposal of assets, and (iv) stock-based compensation expense), and 4) Adjusted EBITDA before other charges.
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Our management believes that each of these non-GAAP financial measures provides useful information about the Company’s results of operations
and/or financial position to both investors and management. Each non-GAAP financial measure is provided because management believes it is an important
measure of financial performance used in the retail industry to measure operating results, to determine the value of companies within the industry and to
define standards for borrowing from institutional lenders. We use each of these non-GAAP financial measures as a measure of the performance of the
Company. In addition, certain of the Company’s cash and equity incentive compensation plans are based on our level of achievement of Adjusted EBITDA
before other charges, which is substantially identical to our non-GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA before other charges.
We provide these various non-GAAP financial measures to investors to assist them in performing their analysis of our historical operating results. Each
of these non-GAAP financial measures reflects a measure of the Company’s operating results before consideration of certain charges and consequently, none
of these measures should be construed as an alternative to net income (loss) or operating income (loss) as an indicator of the Company’s operating
performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of the Company’s liquidity, as determined in accordance with GAAP.
We may calculate each of these non-GAAP financial measures differently than other companies.
With respect to the non-GAAP financial measures discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, we have provided reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.
Seasonality
Our business, like that of many other retailers, is seasonal. Our quarterly net sales have historically been highest in the peak Spring selling season,
which will generally occur during the calendar months of March through May, in our first fiscal quarter and the early part of our second fiscal quarter. Given
the typically higher sales level in that timeframe and the relatively fixed nature of most of our operating expenses, we have historically generated a very
significant percentage of our full year operating income and net income during this period. Results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results
that may be achieved for a full fiscal year. Quarterly results may fluctuate materially depending upon, among other things, increases or decreases in
comparable sales, the timing of new store openings and closings, new leased department openings and closings, net sales and profitability contributed by
new stores and leased departments, the timing of the fulfillment of purchase orders under our product and license arrangements, adverse weather conditions,
shifts in the timing of certain holidays and promotions, changes in inventory and production levels and the timing of deliveries of inventory, and changes in
our merchandise mix.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our cash needs have primarily been for 1) capital expenditures, including (i) leasehold improvements, fixtures and equipment for new stores, store
relocations and remodels of our existing stores, and (ii) investment in information systems and technology, 2) debt service, including principal prepayments,
and 3) working capital, including inventory to support our business. We have historically financed our capital requirements from cash flows from operations,
borrowings under our credit facilities or available cash balances.
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $0.5 million during the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to an increase of $1.7 million for the first quarter
of fiscal 2016.
Cash provided by operations was $6.6 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2017 as compared to $6.0 million of cash used in operations for the first
quarter of fiscal 2016. This increase of approximately $12.6 million in cash provided by operations compared to the prior period primarily reflects the effect
of net working capital and other asset/liability changes that used $1.2 million of cash in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to $14.3 million of cash
used in the first quarter of fiscal 2016, and the receipt of $3.3 million cash proceeds from the sale of our fiscal 2016 Grow NJ tax credits, partially offset by our
net loss in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to net income in the first quarter of fiscal 2016, net of the change in non-cash adjustments. The
$13.1 million year-over-year decrease in use of cash from net working capital and other asset/liability changes was primarily the result of a small increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 as compared to a much larger decrease in the first quarter of fiscal 2016, and a larger
year-over-year decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2016. These
working capital changes reflect our 4.5% lower year-over year inventory balance, timing of vendor payments and receipt of a $4.5 million federal income tax
refund in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. Our working capital changes, quarterly net income (loss) and cash flow adjustments may fluctuate significantly and
net cash provided by or used in operating activities for any interim period is not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for a full fiscal
year.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2017 cash from operations was used to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Facility and
to provide cash for capital expenditures, and periodic payments on our Term Loan and capital equipment loan.
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For the first quarter of fiscal 2017 we spent $2.0 million on capital expenditures, including $1.6 million for leasehold improvements, fixtures and equipment
for new store facilities, as well as improvements to existing stores, and $0.4 million for our information systems. We expect to use borrowings under our
Credit Facility to fund a portion of our capital requirements from time to time during the remainder of fiscal 2017.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2016 we received $32.0 million from our Term Loan, which we used to repay a portion of the outstanding
indebtedness under the Credit Facility and to pay financing costs of the Term Loan. Our net incremental borrowings under our Credit Facility were
approximately $11.3 million and were used to provide cash for operating activities, capital expenditures, monthly payments on our capital equipment loan
and to increase available cash. For the first quarter of fiscal 2016 we spent $3.6 million on capital expenditures, including $2.3 million for leasehold
improvements, fixtures and equipment for new store facilities, as well as improvements to existing stores, and $1.3 million for our information systems.
On March 25, 2016, we entered into a Term Loan Agreement for a $32.0 million Term Loan due March 21, 2021, the proceeds of which were received
on March 25, 2016 and were used to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under our existing Credit Facility. The interest rate on the Term Loan is
equal to a LIBOR rate (with a 1.00% LIBOR floor) plus 7.50%. We are required to make minimum repayments of the principal amount of the Term Loan in
quarterly installments of $0.8 million each, with the remaining outstanding balance payable on the maturity date. Additionally, the Term Loan can be
prepaid at our option subject to certain restrictions, in part or in whole at any time, subject to the payment of a prepayment premium as follows: 1) 3% on or
prior to the first anniversary of the closing date, 2) 2% from the first anniversary to the second anniversary of the closing date, and 3) 1% after the second
anniversary but on or prior to the third anniversary of the closing date.
Effective December 19, 2016 our Term Loan lenders consented to the Merger and the Term Loan Agreement was amended to change the definition of
Consolidated EBITDA (see below) to allow us to add back certain transaction costs relating to the Merger and to modify the financial covenant limiting
capital expenditures (see below). Effective April 7, 2017 the Term Loan Agreement was further amended to allow us to enter into certain equipment financing
arrangements, on the condition that a portion of the proceeds of such financing be applied as a prepayment of the Term Loan. The April 7, 2017 Term Loan
Agreement amendment also provides for an additional reserve of $5.0 million against availability under our Credit Facility that will be reduced dollar for
dollar for prepayments of the Term Loan in accordance with the amendment (see below) and eliminates the covenant requiring maintenance of a minimum
level of Consolidated EBITDA (see below). On June 6, 2017 $3.4 million of proceeds from an equipment financing transaction (see below) were used to
prepay a portion of our Term Loan and to reduce the required additional reserve to $1.6 million. Under the Term Loan Agreement, as amended on April 7,
2017, we are required to maintain Excess Availability (as defined in the related Credit Facility agreement) equal to the greater of 10% of the Combined Loan
Cap (as defined in the related Credit Facility agreement) or $10.0 million. Prior to the April 7, 2017 Term Loan Agreement amendment, we were required to
maintain quarterly Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the related Term Loan Agreement) in an amount not less than the levels specified for each period in
the Term Loan Agreement up to $30.0 million for the four fiscal quarters ending on February 1, 2020 and thereafter. For all periods prior to the elimination of
the Consolidated EBITDA covenant, our Consolidated EBITDA exceeded the Consolidated EBITDA requirements under the Term Loan Agreement. The
April 7, 2017 Term Loan Agreement amendment prohibits us from making capital expenditures (net of tenant allowances) in excess of a specified amount in
any period of four fiscal quarters (subject to carryforward of 50% of any underutilization). The limitation on capital expenditures ranges from $16.0 million
for the four fiscal quarters ending on January 28, 2017 to $10.5 million for the four fiscal quarters ending on February 3, 2018, and increases to $17.0 million
for the four fiscal quarters ending on May 5, 2018 and thereafter. For the four fiscal quarters ended on April 29, 2017 our net capital expenditures did not
exceed the $14.6 million limit. The Term Loan Agreement also prohibits the payment of dividends or share repurchases by us for three years. The Term Loan
is secured by a security interest in substantially all of our assets, including accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, letter of credit rights, cash, intellectual
property and other intangibles, and certain other assets. The security interest granted to the Term Lenders is, in certain respects, subordinate to the security
interest granted to the Credit Facility Lender.
After completion of our debt refinancing on March 25, 2016 we have a $70.0 million Credit Facility, which was amended and restated in connection
with the issuance of our $32.0 million Term Loan. Previously the Credit Facility was $76.0 million and consisted of two tranches: 1) a senior secured
revolving credit and letter of credit facility of up to $70.0 million (“Tranche A”) and 2) a senior secured first-in, last-out revolving credit facility of up to $6.0
million (“Tranche A-1”). On March 25, 2016 proceeds from the Term Loan were used to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the Credit
Facility, including repayment of the entire balance outstanding under Tranche A-1, which was then terminated. In connection with the Term Loan financing
the maturity date of the Credit Facility was extended from August 25, 2020 to March 25, 2021. Proceeds from advances under the Credit Facility, with certain
restrictions, may be used to provide financing for working capital, letters of credit, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. Effective April
7, 2017 the Credit facility was further amended to allow us to enter into certain equipment financing arrangements, on the condition that a portion of the
proceeds of such financing be applied as a prepayment of our Term Loan (see above). The amendment also provides for an additional reserve of $5.0 million
against availability under the Credit Facility that will be reduced dollar for dollar for prepayments of the Term Loan in accordance with the amendment. On
June 6, 2017 $3.4
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million of proceeds from an equipment financing transaction (see above) were used to prepay a portion of our Term Loan and to reduce the required
additional reserve to $1.6 million. Under the Credit Facility, we are required to maintain minimum Excess Availability (as defined in the related Credit
Facility agreement) equal to the greater of 10% of the Combined Loan Cap (as defined in the Credit Facility agreement) or $10.0 million. The Credit Facility
is secured by a security interest in our trade receivables, inventory, letter of credit rights, cash, intangibles and certain other assets.
As of April 29, 2017 we had $2.1 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility and $5.8 million in letters of credit, with $14.7 million of
availability under our Credit Facility based on our Borrowing Base formula and availability reserve requirements. As of April 30, 2016 we had $8.8 million
of borrowings under the Credit Facility and $5.8 million in letters of credit, with $38.0 million of availability under our Credit Facility based on our
Borrowing Base formula and minimum Excess Availability requirement. For the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and 2016 Tranche A borrowings had a weighted
interest rate of 3.11% and 2.33% per annum, respectively. For the first quarter of fiscal 2016 Tranche A-1 borrowings had a weighted interest rate of 3.56%
per annum. During the first quarter of fiscal 2017 and 2016 our average level of direct borrowings was $11.1 and $26.6 million, respectively, and our
maximum borrowings at any time were $15.7 million and $42.7 million, respectively.
As of April 29, 2017 there was $8.6 million outstanding under a five-year equipment financing arrangement with our Credit Facility bank. The
equipment note bears annual interest at 3.38%, with payments of $0.3 million (including interest) due monthly through December 2019. The equipment note
is collateralized by substantially all of the material handling equipment at our distribution facility in Florence, New Jersey.
On June 6, 2017 we received $3.4 million in proceeds from a three-year financing arrangement in the form of a sale and leaseback for certain furniture,
fixtures and software. Monthly payments under the leaseback arrangement are $123 thousand for the first 24 months and $48 thousand for months 25 to 36.
At the end of the leaseback term, we have the option to extend the lease for an additional year or to repurchase the financed property for a price to be agreed.
All of the proceeds from the transaction were used to prepay a portion of our Term Loan.
In connection with the relocation of our corporate headquarters and our distribution operations from Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to southern New
Jersey, the Board of the NJEDA approved us for an incentive package of up to $4 million in annual benefits under Grow NJ in the form of transferrable
income tax credits over a ten-year period from the State of New Jersey. The annual benefit amount available to us is based on an average of eligible jobs
within the state and is expected to significantly exceed our annual income tax liability to New Jersey. In order to maximize the realizable value of our
incentive package we have an agreement with a third party to sell 75% or more of the annual income tax credits awarded to us. For fiscal 2016 we qualified
for $3.6 million in tax credits for which we realized $3.3 million cash proceeds, net of costs, from the April 2017 sale of the tax credits to the third party under
our agreement. For fiscal 2017 our average eligible jobs are expected to be lower than in fiscal 2016 and we project that we will realize approximately $2.9
million, net of costs, from the incentive package, subject to our compliance with the requirements under our Grow NJ award. Cost reductions from lower
headcount are expected to more than offset any decline in the amount realized from our incentive package.
Based on our current operating plan, our management believes that our current cash and working capital positions, expected operating cash flows and
available borrowing capacity, will be sufficient to fund our cash requirements for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. We
have based this belief on assumptions that we believe are reasonable but may not be realized due to a variety of factors including lower than anticipated net
sales or gross margins, increased expenses, continued or declining levels of economic or retail industry conditions, or other events, including those factors
discussed in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 28, 2017. As a result, we could use our available
capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Furthermore, our operating plan may change and we may need additional funds sooner than planned. If we
are unable to obtain needed funds from the aforementioned sources, we will likely need to seek other sources of financing as well as defer, reduce or eliminate
planned expenditures, which would impair our growth prospects and could otherwise negatively impact our business.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These
generally accepted accounting principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses
during the reporting period. Our critical accounting policies are described in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 28, 2017. Other than as noted below, as of April 29, 2017 there were no
material changes in, or additions to, our critical accounting policies or in the assumptions or estimates we used to prepare the financial information appearing
in this report.
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We sell gift cards to our customers in our retail stores, through our websites and through select third parties. The portion of gift cards sold to customers
which are never redeemed is commonly referred to as gift card breakage. Prior to fiscal 2017 we recognized revenue from gift card breakage after we
determined that any legal obligation to report and remit the value associated with abandoned property had been satisfied. We have accumulated a significant
amount of historical data from our past gift card transactions, allowing us to reasonably and objectively determine the pattern of gift card redemptions and a
related estimated gift card breakage rate. In the first quarter of fiscal 2017 we have elected to record revenue from gift card breakage over the period of, and in
proportion to, the actual redemptions of gift cards based on our historical breakage. We believe this method is preferable as it better reflects the gift card
earnings process resulting in the recognition of gift card breakage income over the period of gift card redemptions (i.e., over the performance period). We will
continue to review historical gift card redemption information to assess the reasonableness of patterns of redemption and projected gift card breakage rates.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted
In March 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting. ASU No. 2016-09 affects all entities that issue share-based payment awards to their employees. ASU No. 2016-09 simplifies several
aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities,
and classification on the statement of cash flows, including recognizing all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies as income tax expense or benefit in the
income statement rather than in additional paid-in capital. We adopted ASU No. 2016-09 effective January 29, 2017 and the adoption did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In November 2015 the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. To simplify the
presentation of deferred income taxes, ASU No. 2015-17 requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of
financial position. We adopted ASU No. 2015-17 effective January 29, 2017 and applied the required reclassifications on a retrospective basis. Accordingly,
in our consolidated balance sheet as of January 28, 2017, $3.3 million in deferred tax assets were reclassified from current assets to other assets. The adoption
of ASU No. 2015-17 did not have any impact on our net consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In July 2015 the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. ASU No. 2015-11 changes the
measurement principle for inventory from the lower of cost or market to the lower of cost and net realizable value. We adopted ASU No. 2015-11 effective
January 29, 2017 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
Proposed
In May 2017 the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting. ASU 2017-09
provides guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in
Topic 718. ASU No. 2017-09 is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods
within those years. Earlier application is permitted. The impact from adoption of the new requirements of ASU No. 2017-09 on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations has not yet been determined.
In October 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory. ASU No. 201616 amends the accounting for income taxes and requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intercompany asset transfer, other than
transfers of inventory, when the transfer occurs. For intercompany transfers of inventory, the income tax effects will continue to be deferred until the
inventory has been sold to a third party. ASU No. 2016-16 is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2017 and interim periods within those years, using a modified retrospective application method through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to
retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. Earlier application is permitted. The impact from adoption of the new requirements of ASU
No. 2016-16 on our consolidated financial position or results of operations has not yet been determined.
In August 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments. ASU No. 2016-15 clarifies and provides guidance on eight specific cash flow classification issues and is intended to reduce existing diversity in
practice in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-15 is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those years. Earlier application is permitted, provided that all of the
amendments are adopted in the same period. The adoption of the new requirements of ASU No. 2016-15 will not have any impact on our net consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
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In February 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU No. 2016-02 affects any entity that enters into a lease (as that term is
defined in the ASU) and its guidance supersedes Topic 840, Leases. As it substantively relates to the Company, ASU No. 2016-02 requires lessees to
recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments, in the statement of financial position. For
finance leases, lessees are required to recognize interest on the lease liability separately from amortization of the right-of-use asset in the statement of
comprehensive income and to classify repayments of the principal portion of the lease liability within financing activities and payments of interest on the
lease liability and variable lease payments within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. For operating leases, lessees are required to recognize a
single lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term on a generally straight-line basis, and to classify all cash payments
within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. In transition, lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest
period presented using a modified retrospective approach. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those years. Earlier application is permitted. While the Company is still evaluating this
standard, given the significant number of leases the Company is party to, the Company expects this standard will have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets from the recognition of right-of-use assets and related liabilities but does not expect it to have a material impact on the
consolidated results of operations.
In May 2014 the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). ASU No. 2014-09 requires an entity to
recognize revenue for the amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. Additionally,
ASU No. 2014-09 requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue
that is recognized. The standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in GAAP when it becomes effective. ASU No. 2014-09 is effective
for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those years. In August 2015 the
FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date which deferred the effective date of ASU
No. 2014-09 by one year, making the guidance effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption will be permitted, but not earlier
than the original effective date for annual and interim periods. We will adopt the new guidance beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and have not
yet determined if application of the new standard will be retrospective to each prior reporting period presented or as a cumulative effect adjustment as of the
date of adoption. The impact from adoption of the new requirements of ASU No. 2014-09 on our consolidated financial position or results of operations has
not yet been determined.
Forward-Looking Statements
Some of the information in this report, including the information incorporated by reference (as well as information included in oral statements or other
written statements made or to be made by us), contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The forward-looking statements involve a number of
risks and uncertainties. The following factors, among others, in some cases have affected and in the future could cause our actual results, performance,
achievements or industry results to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forwardlooking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to: the strength or weakness of the retail industry in general and of apparel purchases in
particular, our ability to successfully manage our various business initiatives, our ability to successfully pursue, complete and manage any strategic
transaction and related matters, adverse effects on the market price of our common stock and on our operating results because of a failure to complete any
strategic transaction, failure to realize any benefits of any proposed strategic transaction, the success of our international business and its expansion, our
ability to successfully manage, retain and expand our leased department and international franchise relationships and marketing partnerships, future sales
trends in our various sales channels, unusual weather patterns, changes in consumer spending patterns, raw material price increases, overall economic
conditions and other factors affecting consumer confidence, demographics and other macroeconomic factors that may impact the level of spending for
maternity apparel (such as fluctuations in pregnancy rates and birth rates), expense savings initiatives, our ability to anticipate and respond to fashion trends
and consumer preferences, unanticipated fluctuations in our operating results, the impact of competition and fluctuations in the price, availability and
quality of raw materials and contracted products, availability of suitable store locations, continued availability of capital and financing, our ability to hire,
develop and retain senior management and sales associates, our ability to develop and source merchandise, our ability to receive production from foreign
sources on a timely basis, our compliance with applicable financial and other covenants under our financing arrangements, potential debt prepayments, the
trading liquidity of our common stock, changes in market interest rates, our compliance with certain tax incentive and abatement programs, war or acts of
terrorism and other factors referenced in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those set forth under the caption “Risk Factors.”
We have made and may in the future make forward-looking statements relating to our planned merger with Orchestra-Prémaman S.A. Factors that
could cause our actual results, performance, achievements or industry results to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the possibility that the merger does not close when expected or at
all because required regulatory, shareholder, stockholder or other approvals
29

are not received or other conditions to the closing are not satisfied on a timely basis or at all; or the possibility that the anticipated benefits of the merger are
not realized as a result of such matters as general business and economic conditions in France, the United States and other countries in which we or OrchestraPrémaman conduct business; the impact of the movement of Euro relative to other currencies, particularly the U.S. dollar and the currencies of other countries
in which the combined company will conduct business; the effects of competition in the markets in which we or Orchestra-Prémaman operate; the impact of
changes in the laws and regulations regulating the clothing and childcare products industries or affecting domestic and foreign operations; judicial or
regulatory judgments and legal proceedings; our ability to successfully integrate the two companies; our success in retaining the services of executives, key
personnel and other employees that the combined company needs to realize all of the anticipated benefits of the merger; the risk that expected synergies and
benefits of the merger will not be realized within the expected time frame or at all; reputational risks; and other factors that may affect future results of us or
Orchestra-Prémaman, including changes in trade policies, timely development and introduction of new products and services, changes in tax laws,
technological and regulatory changes, and adverse developments in general market, business, economic, labor, regulatory and political conditions.
In addition, these forward-looking statements necessarily depend upon assumptions, estimates and dates that may be incorrect or imprecise and
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. Accordingly, any forward-looking statements included in this report do not purport to be
predictions of future events or circumstances and may not be realized. Forward-looking statements can be identified by, among other things, the use of
forward-looking terms such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” “pro forma,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “continues,” “could,”
“estimates,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “goal,” “objective,” or the negative of any of these terms, or comparable terminology, or by discussions of our
outlook, plans, goals, strategy or intentions. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. Except as required by applicable law, including the
securities laws of the United States and the rules and regulations of the SEC, we assume no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements to
reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting these forward-looking statements.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Destination Maternity is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates. We have not entered into any market sensitive instruments for trading
purposes. The analysis below presents the sensitivity of the market value of our financial instruments to selected changes in market interest rates. The range
of changes presented reflects our view of changes that are reasonably possible over a one-year period.
As of April 29, 2017 we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.3 million. Our cash equivalents consist of investments in money market funds that bear
interest at variable rates. A change in market interest rates earned on our investments impacts the interest income and cash flows, but does not materially
impact the fair market value of the financial instruments. Due to the low balance, average maturity and conservative nature of our investment portfolio, we
believe a sudden change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the value of our investment portfolio. The impact on our future interest income
resulting from changes in investment yields will depend largely on the gross amount of our investment portfolio at that time. However, based upon the
conservative nature of our investment portfolio and current experience, we do not believe a decrease in investment yields would have a material negative
effect on our interest income.
As of April 29, 2017 the components of our debt portfolio were the $29.6 million Term Loan, the $8.6 million equipment note and the $70.0 million
Credit Facility. Each of the components of our debt portfolio are denominated in United States dollars. The fair value of the debt portfolio is referred to as the
“debt value.” The equipment note bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.38%. Although a change in market interest rates would not affect the interest incurred or
cash flow related to this fixed rate portion of the debt portfolio, the debt value would be affected.
The Term Loan carries a variable interest rate that is tied to market indices with a minimum annual rate of 8.50%. The sensitivity analysis as it relates
to this portion of our debt portfolio assumes an instantaneous 100 basis point move in interest rates above and below the minimum threshold, with all other
variables held constant. The debt value of the Term Loan is approximately $29.6 million. A 100 basis point increase in market interest rates above the
minimum threshold would result in additional annual interest expense on the Term Loan of approximately $0.3 million. A 100 basis point decline in market
interest rates below the minimum threshold would have no effect on our annual interest expense on the Term Loan.
Our Credit Facility has variable interest rates that are tied to market indices. As of April 29, 2017 we had $2.1 million of direct borrowings and
$5.8 million of letters of credit outstanding under our Credit Facility. As of April 29, 2017 borrowings under the Credit Facility would have resulted in
interest at a rate between 2.50% and 4.50% per annum. Interest on any future borrowings under the Credit Facility would, to the extent of outstanding
borrowings, be affected by changes in market interest rates. A change in market interest rates on the variable rate portion of our debt portfolio would impact
the interest expense incurred and cash flows.
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The sensitivity analysis as it relates to the fixed rate portion of our debt portfolio assumes an instantaneous 100 basis point move in interest rates from
their levels as of April 29, 2017, with all other variables held constant. A 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a decrease in the
value of the debt by approximately $0.1 million as of April 29, 2017. A 100 basis point decline in market interest rates would cause the debt value to increase
by approximately $0.1 million as of April 29, 2017.
Other than as described above, we do not believe that the market risk exposure on other financial instruments is material.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that are filed or submitted
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. These disclosure
controls and procedures include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to our management on a timely basis to allow decisions regarding required disclosure. We evaluated the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of April 29, 2017. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that as of April 29, 2017 these controls and procedures were effective.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the foregoing evaluation that occurred during
the fiscal quarter ended April 29, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are named as a defendant in legal actions arising from our normal business activities. Litigation is inherently unpredictable and
although the amount of any liability that could arise with respect to currently pending actions cannot be accurately predicted, we do not believe that the
resolution of any pending action will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 28, 2017. The risks described in our Form 10-K are not the only risks that we face. Additional
risks not presently known to us or that we do not currently consider significant may also have an adverse effect on us. If any of the risks actually occur, our
business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition could suffer.
Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table provides information about purchases by us during the three-month period January 29, 2017 to April 29, 2017 of equity securities
that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act:

Period

January 29 to February 25, 2017
February 26 to April 1, 2017
April 2 to April 29, 2017
Total

Total
Number of
Shares
Purchased (1)

—
7,460
844
8,304

Average Price
Paid per Share

$
$
$
$

—
4.26
3.84
4.22

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of a
Publicly
Announced
Program (2)

—
—
—
—

Maximum
Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchased
Under the Program (2)

—
—
—
—

(1)

Represents shares reacquired directly from certain employees to satisfy income tax withholding obligations for such employees in connection with
restricted stock awards that vested during the period.

(2)

Our Board of Directors previously approved a program to repurchase up to $10.0 million of our outstanding common stock that expired as of July 31,
2016. Under the program, we were authorized to repurchase shares from time to time through solicited or unsolicited transactions in the open market or
in negotiated or other transactions. No shares were repurchased under this program. Our Term Loan Agreement, effective March 25, 2016, prohibits
share repurchases for three years.

Item 5.

Other Information

On June 6, 2017 Destination Maternity completed the sale and leaseback of certain furniture, fixtures and software with TFG-New Jersey, L.P. We
received approximately $3.4 million in gross proceeds (the “Property Cost”). The leaseback has a term of 36 months. Basic rent for the first 24 months is
$123,256 plus applicable taxes, and for months 25-36 is $48,412 plus applicable taxes. At the end of the 36-month term, we may repurchase the leased
property for a price to be agreed (but not more than 17% of the Property Cost), extend the lease for an additional 12 months at the same rental rate and terms,
or return the property to the lessor. The lease is a net lease, and we are responsible for all costs and expenses associated with the leased property, and bear the
risk of loss with respect to the leased property. All of the proceeds from the transaction were applied as a prepayment of our Term Loan.
The foregoing description is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the documents filed as Exhibits 10.7, 10.8, 10.9
and 10.10 hereto, respectively, and incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 6.

Exhibits

Exhibit No.

Description

*10.1 Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017, by and among Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, Destination Maternity Corporation, Cave Springs, Inc., Mothers Work Canada, Inc. and DM Urban Renewal, LLC (Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 7, 2017 (the “April 7, 2017 Form 8-K”))
*10.2 Amendment No. 2 to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017, by and among Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, TPG
Specialty Lending, Inc., Destination Maternity Corporation, Cave Springs, Inc., Mothers Work Canada, Inc., and DM Urban Renewal, LLC
(Exhibit 10.2 to the April 7, 2017 Form 8-K)
*10.3 Second Amendment to Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017, by and among Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Destination
Maternity Corporation, Cave Springs, Inc., Mothers Work Canada, Inc. and DM Urban Renewal, LLC (Exhibit 10.3 to the April 7, 2017 Form 8K)
*10.4 Product Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, by and between Orchestra Prémaman USA Inc. and Destination Maternity Corporation
(Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended January 28, 2017 (the “2016 Form 10K/A”)
† *10.5 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2017, by and among Ronald J. Masciantonio, Orchestra-Prémaman S.A. and US OP

Corporation (Exhibit 10.43 to the 2016 Form 10-K/A)
† *10.6 Bonus Deferral Letter, dated April 6, 2017, by and between Destination Maternity Corporation and Anthony M. Romano (Exhibit 10.44 to the

2016 Form 10-K/A)
10.7 Master Lease Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
10.8 Lease Schedule, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
10.9 Bill of Sale, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
10.10 Sale Leaseback Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
18.1 Preferability Letter Regarding Change in Accounting Principle dated June 8, 2017 from KPMG LLP
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of the Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
32.2 Certification of the Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
*

Incorporated by reference

†

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Destination Maternity Corporation
Date: June 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Anthony M. Romano
Anthony M. Romano
Chief Executive Officer & President

Date: June 8, 2017

By:

/s/ David Stern
David Stern
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS FILED WITH
FORM 10-Q OF DESTINATION MATERNITY CORPORATION
FOR THE QUARTER ENDED APRIL 29, 2017
Exhibit No.

Description

10.7 Master Lease Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
10.8 Lease Schedule, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
10.9 Bill of Sale, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
10.10 Sale Leaseback Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2017, by and between TFG-New Jersey, L.P. and Destination Maternity Corporation
18.1 Preferability Letter Regarding Change in Accounting Principle dated June 8, 2017 from KPMG LLP
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of the Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
32.2 Certification of the Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 10.7
Master Lease Agreement
Date: May 25, 2017
Number: 2047981
THIS MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT (“ Master Lease”) is between TFG-New Jersey, L.P., a limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of Utah, with a principal
address of 6995 Union Park Center, Suite 400, Cottonwood Heights, Utah 84047 (“Lessor”), and Destination Maternity Corporation, a corporation, organized under the laws of
the State of Delaware, with a principal address of 232 Strawbridge Drive, Moorestown, New Jersey 08057, (“Lessee”).
1 . Scope of Lease. Lessor agrees to lease to Lessee, and Lessee agrees to lease from
Lessor, the equipment, property, software, and capitalized costs (the “ Leased
Property”) set forth in each lease schedule (a “Schedule”) executed pursuant hereto.
Each Schedule shall incorporate the terms of this Master Lease, and shall constitute a
separate, independent lease contract (together, a “Lease”). In any conflict between the
Master Lease and a Schedule, the Schedule shall govern.
2. Lease Term.
( a ) The term of each Lease (the “Term”) shall commence on the Final
Acceptance Date and shall continue through the period ending that number of months
designated as the “Base Term ” in the Schedule following the Commencement Date,
and including any extensions thereof. The “Final Acceptance Date” shall be the date
set forth in the final acceptance certificate for all Leased Property under a Schedule (a
“Final Acceptance Certificate”). The “Commencement Date” shall mean the first day
of the calendar quarter following the Final Acceptance Date. Thereafter, Lessee shall
have the options set forth in Section 21.
(b)
Prior to the Final Acceptance Date, Lessee may, pursuant to a Partial
Acceptance and Authorization Certificate for Progress Payments (a “ Partial
Authorization Certificate”), request Lessor to make one or more payments to a
Supplier (or reimburse Lessee for deposits or other payments made to a Supplier) for
the purchase of items of Leased Property (each a “Progress Payment”). Lessor may, in
its sole and absolute discretion, make such Progress Payments. Lessee shall, with
respect to all Progress Payments, pay Lessor a daily pro rata rental charge determined
by multiplying (i) product of the Lease Rate Factor converted into a daily rate
multiplied by the Progress Payments, by (ii) the number of days in the applicable
period (“Pro Rata Rental Fees”). All computations of Pro Rata Rental Fees shall be
made on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days occurring in the
applicable period. The Pro Rata Rental Fees shall be due monthly and apply at all
times during the period commencing on the date designated as the Partial Acceptance
Date in the first Partial Authorization Certificate and continuing until the Final
Acceptance Date (the “Progress Funding Period”). Upon completion of the Progress
Funding Period, the applicable Schedule shall be amended to reflect the actual Leased
Property Cost and adjust the Basic Rent accordingly.
(c) During the Progress Funding Period, upon the occurrence of (i) an Event of
Default, (ii) if all of the Leased Property contemplated under an applicable Schedule is
not delivered, installed and functioning properly prior to the expiration of the
applicable credit approval, (iii) if the funding amount (i.e., the total “Leased Property
Cost”) set forth in the applicable Schedule has not been funded prior to the expiration
of the applicable credit approval, or (iv) if Lessee does not execute a Final Acceptance
Certificate certifying that all of the Leased Property contemplated under an applicable
Schedule is delivered, installed and functioning properly, Lessor may, in its sole and
absolute discretion, do one or more of the following: (A) extend the Progress Funding
Period by one or more periods of up to ninety (90) days each, (B) commence the
applicable Lease for the Leased Property already paid for, with the Final Acceptance
Date determined by Lessor in its sole and absolute discretion; provided, however, that
such date shall be no earlier than a date after all items of Leased Property
contemplated in the applicable Schedule shall have been independently confirmed
delivered, installed and functioning properly, unless waived by Lessor in its sole and
absolute discretion, (C) cease all Progress Payments, (D) declare an Event of Default,
(E) exercise any rights or remedies available to Lessor under the Lease, and/or (F)
require Lessee to pay to Lessor all accrued but unpaid Pro Rata Rental Fees, plus the
Stipulated Default Value, together with all other costs and expenses provided for
herein. Upon Lessee’s payment of the amounts set forth in subsection 2(c)(F), Lessor
will quitclaim Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property to Lessee, on an “as-is, whereis” basis, without representation or warranty. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, unless Lessor commences the Lease pursuant to Section 2(c)(B), if
all of the Leased Property contemplated under an applicable Schedule is not delivered,
installed and functioning properly, Lessee does not execute the Final Acceptance
Certificate, certifying that all of the Leased Property under an applicable Schedule is
delivered, installed and functioning properly, and/or Lessee fails to timely pay the
amounts set forth in this Section 2(c), the Progress Funding Period shall continue and
the Pro Rata Rental Fees shall continue to accrue without abatement.
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3 . Payments; Late Charges. Lessee shall timely pay all Pro Rata Rental Fees, Basic
Rent, Taxes, charges and all other amounts due or to become due under a Lease. Pro
Rata Rental Fees shall begin on the first Partial Acceptance Date, shall be cumulative
for all Progress Payment(s), and shall be due in arrears on the last day of each month
of the Progress Funding Period. Basic Rent shall begin on the Final Acceptance Date
and shall be due in advance on the first day of each month of the Term. If the Final
Acceptance Date does not fall on the first day of the month, Basic Rent due for such
partial month shall be prorated. All Pro Rata Rental Fees, Basic Rent, Taxes, charges
and other amounts due or to become due under a Lease shall be paid by ACH initiated
by Lessor. For any payment not received when due, Lessee shall pay a reasonable late
charge of five percent (5%) of the amount due (not to exceed maximum lawful
charges). LESSEE’S PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS SHALL BE WITHOUT NOTICE
OR DEMAND, ARE ABSOLUTE, UNCONDITIONAL AND NOT SUBJECT TO
ABATEMENT, REDUCTION OR SETOFF FOR ANY REASON, INCLUDING
WITHOUT LIMITATION THE FAILURE OF THE LEASED PROPERTY TO
FUNCTION PROPERLY. Any payment of the first and/or last payment of Basic Rent
for the Term required at the inception of any Lease shall be a pre-payment, not a
deposit, fully earned by Lessor upon receipt.
4 . Representations, Warranties and Covenants. As a material inducement to
Lessor to enter into this Master Lease and any subsequent Lease, Lessee represents,
warrants and covenants to Lessor that: (a) Lessee is a legal entity, duly organized and
in good standing under the laws of the state of its formation; (b) the execution,
delivery and performance by Lessee of each Lease shall have been duly authorized,
shall constitute the valid, legal and binding agreement of Lessee, strictly enforceable
in accordance with its terms; (c) the Leased Property is personal property and shall not
be or become, or be deemed to be or become, fixtures, notwithstanding any manner
of annexation on or adaptability to the uses and purposes for any real property, or the
intentions of the party making any such annexation; (d) Lessee has no affiliation with
any Supplier, the Supply Contract represents a bona fide arm’s length transaction, and
Lessee shall receive no remuneration from any Supplier in connection with any Lease
or the Leased Property; (e) no legal proceeding of any kind is pending or, to Lessee’s
knowledge, threatened or contemplated against Lessee that may cause an Event of
Default; (f) the financial statements and other information Lessee has furnished to
Lessor are true and correct, and accurately represent Lessee’s financial condition and
there has been no Material Adverse Change since the date thereof; (g) no information
or representation (oral or written) that Lessee, or any agent or representative of
Lessee, has furnished to Lessor contains any untrue statement of fact, or omits to state
a fact necessary to make such information or representation not misleading, and there
exists no fact, circumstance or contingency or combination thereof that Lessee has not
disclosed to Lessor that, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, may
cause or might reasonably be expected to cause an Event of Default; (h) Lessee has
the financial capacity to perform its obligations under any Lease; and (i) Lessee is not
in default under or in breach of any loan, financing or other agreement or obligation.
Each of the foregoing representations, warranties and covenants is made on a
continuing basis and shall be deemed reaffirmed as of the execution of each Schedule,
and Lessee shall have a continuing affirmative duty to promptly provide notice to
Lessor of any event or occurrence that, with the passage of time or the giving of
notice, or both, may cause or might reasonably be expected to cause any of the
foregoing to become untrue or invalid or an Event of Default. Lessee certifies that
these representations, warranties and covenants are true and accurate, and that Lessor
is materially relying on them.
5 . Uniform Commercial Code Acknowledgment . Lessee acknowledges that: (a)
Lessee has selected the Leased Property, Supplier(s) and manufacturer in its sole
discretion without Lessor’s involvement, has received and approved any applicable
Supply Contract, may have rights under the Supply Contract and may contact the
Supplier for a description of such rights; (b) the Leased Property is solely for
commercial or business purposes in the lawful conduct of Lessee’s business and not
for personal, family, or household purposes; and (c) each Lease is a “Finance Lease.”
(“Supplier,” “Supply Contract” and “Finance Lease” have the meanings only as
ascribed to them in Article 2A of the Uniform Commercial Code in effect in Utah
(“UCC”), and shall have no effect on tax or accounting of any Lease.)
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6 . Right to Inspect. Lessor may, during reasonable business hours and upon prior
notice, inspect the Leased Property wherever it is located. Lessee shall pay all
inspection costs. Lessee shall give Lessor prompt notice, together with copies, of all
notices, reports, inquiries and/or developments regarding the Leased Property,
including without limitation regarding any encumbrance, lien, seizure, attachment,
judicial process, abandonment or Casualty.
7 . Conditions Precedent. Each Lease funding shall be conditioned, in Lessor’s sole
and absolute discretion, on the following: (a) compliance with all insurance
requirements; (b) lien searches showing no existing or potential lien, claim or interest
in the Leased Property; (c) Lessee shall obtain and deliver to Lessor a lien waiver,
subordination or other instrument in a form satisfactory to Lessor from all persons
who might assert an interest, lien or other claim in the Leased Property, including any
landlord or creditor; (d) Lessee shall provide (i) authorizing resolutions and
incumbency certificate(s), (ii) current, satisfactory financial statements, (iii) originally
executed Master Lease, applicable Schedule, and all other Lease Documents, (iv)
original invoices and/or Supply Contracts for the Leased Property, and (v) such other
information and assurances as Lessor may require; (e) all of Lessee’s representations
and warranties shall be true and correct; (f) no Event of Default or Material Adverse
Change shall have occurred; (g) Lessee shall have irrevocably and unconditionally
accepted the Leased Property (and/or waived acceptance and any right to reject); (h)
Lessor shall receive good and marketable title to the Leased Property free and clear of
any claims, interests, liens, security interest or other encumbrances; (i) Lessee shall
have executed and delivered a Partial Acceptance Certificate and/or Final Acceptance
Certificate, as applicable; (j) satisfactory review and inspection of the Supplier(s) and
Leased Property; and (k) Lessee shall have complied with all other obligations and
conditions of the applicable approval and Lease.
8 . Taxes. Lessee shall pay all fees, assessments and taxes (except on the net income
of Lessor) imposed upon or in connection with the Leased Property or any rental,
lease or other payment under a Lease, including without limitation registration and
license fees, recycling fees, privilege or excise taxes, documentary stamp, recording or
similar taxes and/or fees, sales and use taxes, and property taxes (“Taxes”). Lessor will
file returns for sales and property Taxes, as applicable. Lessor will not be responsible
for contesting any Taxes. Lessor shall retain, and Lessee acknowledges and agrees,
that Lessor shall be entitled to retain and claim all tax benefits, credits, deductions and
depreciation relating to the Leased Property, and Lessee agrees to take no action
inconsistent with the foregoing. Lessee shall indemnify Lessor upon demand, on a net
after-tax basis, against the loss (including recapture) of or inability to claim,
disallowance or deferral of any such federal, state or local tax benefits.
9. Net Lease. Each Lease shall be a fully net lease. Lessee shall be solely responsible
for all costs and expenses of every nature arising out of the possession, use, operation
and maintenance of the Leased Property, including all rentals, Taxes, charges,
appraisal and inspection fees, and other amounts due or to become due under the
Lease, including an annual servicing fee of $120. LESSEE’S OBLIGATIONS TO
PAY ALL PRO RATA RENTAL FEES, BASIC RENT, TAXES, CHARGES AND
OTHER AMOUNTS DUE OR TO BECOME DUE UNDER EACH LEASE ARE
UNCONDITIONAL, INDEPENDENT, ABSOLUTE, AND IRREVOCABLE AND
NOT SUBJECT TO ANY ABATEMENT, REDUCTION, RECOUPMENT,
COUNTER-CLAIM, SETOFF, DEFENSE OR ADJUSTMENT OF ANY KIND.
LESSEE HAS NO RIGHT OF PREPAYMENT. Each Lease is non-cancelable and
Lessee agrees that each Lease cannot be cancelled or terminated for any reason. No
Lease shall terminate nor shall the obligations of Lessee be affected by reason of any
defect in, damage to, loss, destruction, malfunction, abandonment of the Leased
Property or Casualty, or the interference with the use, possession or lease thereof by
any private or governmental party or as a result of any war, riot, insurrection, act of
terrorism, strike, labor disturbance, fire, casualty, act of God, change in law,
governmental preemption of priorities or other controls in connection with a national
or other public emergency or shortages of fuel, supplies or labor resulting therefrom,
or any other cause, whether similar or dissimilar. Failure by any Supplier to deliver the
Leased Property shall not relieve Lessee of any obligation under any Lease.

1 0 . Use, Maintenance; Return. Lessee shall at its sole expense: (a) provide a
suitable place for the operation of the Leased Property, and shall not move the Leased
Property from the location stated in the Schedule without the prior written consent of
Lessor; (b) promptly pay and/or perform all costs, expenses and obligations incurred
or necessary in connection with the use, maintenance, servicing, repair, operation or
possession of the Leased Property; (c) keep, service, operate and maintain the Leased
Property in accordance with the highest industry standards and in as good repair,
condition and working order as when delivered to Lessee, reasonable wear and tear
from the proper use thereof excepted, including ensuring any repair or replacement
occasioned by any damage, recall or service requirement of the Leased Property; and
(d) operate and maintain the Leased Property in conformity with all applicable (i)
manufacturers’ instructions and warranty requirements, (ii) insurance policies, and
(iii) laws, including all laws relating to human health, safety, the environment and
hazardous materials. Lessor shall have no obligation to maintain or service the Leased
Property. Lessee may not make alterations or modifications or affix attachments or
accessories to the Leased Property (“Improvements”) without the prior written consent
of Lessor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any Improvements
shall be made at Lessee’s sole expense, shall not interfere with the normal and
satisfactory operation or maintenance of the Leased Property, and shall not void or
otherwise adversely affect any warranties on the Leased Property. Unless Lessor shall
otherwise agree in writing, all Improvements shall automatically become subject to the
applicable Schedule and shall be and become, without further action by any party, the
property of Lessor upon their attachment to the Leased Property, or, at the option of
Lessor and at Lessee’s sole expense, such Improvements shall be removed by Lessee
and the Leased Property restored to the condition required in the following sentence.
Lessee shall, at the expiration or termination of the Lease, or upon notice from Lessor
following an Event of Default, at Lessee’s sole expense, deliver the Leased Property to
Lessor to a destination within the continental United States specified by Lessor, in the
same operating condition, order and repair as when delivered to Lessee, reasonable
wear and tear from the proper use thereof excepted. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, until Lessee satisfies all requirements pursuant to and in
accordance with a validly exercised option as provided Section 21, Lessee shall be
obligated to pay all Pro Rata Rental Fees, Basic Rent, Taxes, charges and other
amounts due or to become due under the Lease.
11. Ownership. The parties acknowledge and agree that all right, title and interest in
and to the Leased Property (or Lessee’s interest in the Leased Property if the Leased
Property is Software) is vested in Lessor. Lessee shall have no interest in the Leased
Property except for Lessee’s right to use and possess the Leased Property pursuant to
the Lease. Lessee hereby transfers to Lessor all of Lessee’s current and/or future right
and interest, if any, in the Leased Property, free and clear of all claims, liens, security
interest or other encumbrances. Lessee shall at all times keep the Leased Property free
and clear of any claims, interests, liens, security interests or other encumbrances.
Lessor may affix (or require Lessee to affix) tags, decals, markings, labels or other
indicia to the Leased Property indicating Lessor’s ownership of the Leased Property,
and Lessee shall not permit their removal or concealment. Lessee shall not permit the
name of any person or entity other than Lessor or its Assignee to be placed on the
Leased Property as a designation that might be interpreted as a claim of ownership or
security interest.
1 2 . Quiet Enjoyment. So long as no Default has occurred, Lessee may quietly
enjoy and possess the Leased Property subject to terms of the Lease.
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13. Software. (a) If the Leased Property includes software in any form (“Software”):
(i) Lessee shall possess and use the Software in accordance with any applicable license
agreement (“License”), shall not breach the License, and shall provide a complete
copy of the License to Lessor, (ii) Lessee acknowledges and agrees that Lessor has an
interest in the License and Software due to its payment of the license fee and is an
assignee and/or third-party beneficiary thereof for lease financing purposes, (iii) as
consideration for Lessor’s payment of the license fee and for providing the Software
to Lessee at a lease rate (rather than a debt rate), Lessee agrees that Lessor is leasing
(and not financing) the Software to Lessee, (iv) except for the license fee paid by
Lessor, Lessee shall, at its own expense, pay promptly when due all servicing and
maintenance fees and costs, update and upgrade costs, modification costs, and all other
costs and expenses relating to the License and Software and shall maintain the License
and Software, including all updates and upgrades, in effect and current throughout the
Term of the Lease, (v) the Software, including as stored in any machine readable
form, whether in the original media in which the Software was provided by the
Supplier, in any equipment or other media owned, possessed or used by Lessee
(whether or not such equipment or other media is leased from Lessor), or in the form
of back-up or other copies in any form of media made or possessed by, or under the
control of Lessee, shall be deemed Leased Property for all purposes under the Lease,
(vi) Lessee acknowledges and agrees that Lessor’s failure to request recognition as a
permitted assignee of the Software or License, or any refusal of any Supplier to such a
request, shall not affect any of Lessee’s obligations under any Lease, and (vii) if the
Software is not properly installed, does not function properly or is unsatisfactory for
any reason, Lessee shall make any claim on account thereof solely against the vendor
(and shall provide Lessor prompt notice of any such claim—failure to provide such
notice shall be a Default) and shall nevertheless pay all sums payable under the Lease,
Lessee hereby waiving any right to make any such claims against Lessor; (b) At the
expiration or termination of any Lease (except where Lessee timely and validly
exercises an option to purchase the Leased Property pursuant to Section 21), or upon
demand by Lessor upon an Event of Default, Lessee shall (i) uninstall or delete from
its systems all Software, or derivative work thereof, then installed, and provide to
Lessor a sworn statement of an authorized representative of Lessee that such actions
have been taken, (ii) return to Lessor or the applicable Supplier all copies or duplicates
of the Software, including any written materials, and (iii) cease all use of the Software;
(c) Lessee shall not enter into, renegotiate, renew or revise any License or any
agreement or arrangement with the Software Supplier for Software or services
described in any Lease without Lessor’s prior written consent.
14. Risk of Loss or Damage. Lessee is responsible for and shall bear all risk of loss
with respect to the Leased Property, including without limitation damage, destruction,
impairment, infringement, theft, non-delivery, malfunction, governmental taking,
confiscation, defect, loss, abandonment, warranty claim, improper manufacture or
otherwise (a “Casualty”). No Casualty shall relieve Lessee from or modify any
obligation under any Lease. Lessee shall promptly (within ten (10) days of the
occurrence) notify Lessor in writing of any Casualty. On the next succeeding payment
date, Lessee shall, at the option of Lessor, in Lessor’s sole and absolute discretion: (a)
repair the Leased Property, placing it back in as good or better condition and working
order as before the Casualty, assuming the Leased Property has been properly
maintained as required herein, (b) replace the Leased Property with like-kind property
of equal value, acceptable to Lessor, transfer title to same to Lessor free and clear of
any claims, liens, security interests or other encumbrances, whereupon such
replacement property shall be deemed Leased Property, and continue to pay all
obligations without interruption, or (c) pay to Lessor all past due Pro Rata Rental Fees,
Basic Rent, Taxes, charges and other amounts, plus an amount equal to the Stipulated
Loss Value. Upon Lessee’s payment of the amounts set forth in subsection 14(c),
Lessor will quitclaim Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property to Lessee, on an “as-is,
where-is” basis, without representation or warranty. Insurance proceeds received by
Lessor as a result of a Casualty, if any, will be applied first to pay Lessor’s costs and
expenses incurred in connection therewith, including reasonable attorney fees, and
then toward Lessee’s obligations under the Lease.
15. Insurance. Lessee shall at its sole expense: (a) insure the Leased Property against
all risks of loss or damage for no less than the Stipulated Loss Value; and (b) maintain
public liability insurance, covering personal injury and property damage in amounts
Lessor may require, but in no event less than $2,000,000 general aggregate and
$1,000,000 per occurrence, in both cases naming Lessor, its successors and assigns, as
sole loss payees and additional insureds, as their interests may appear. All such
insurance policies shall contain a waiver of all expressed or implied rights of
subrogation against Lessor and such policies shall be issued by a carrier reasonably
acceptable to Lessor. Lessee shall pay all premiums and other amounts for such
insurance and shall deliver proof of such insurance coverage from time to time
throughout the Term. Lessee grants to Lessor an unconditional and irrevocable power
of attorney to make claim for and receive and endorse all checks and other documents
received as payment for claims under such insurance policies, and otherwise deal with
the insurance carrier. Lessee shall provide no less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of any non-renewal, amendment or other change to Lessee’s insurance policies.

16. Performance of Lessee’s Obligations. If Lessee fails to perform any obligation
under a Lease, Lessor may, at its sole option, perform them without waiving Lessee’s
Default. Any amount, liability, cost and/or expense incurred by Lessor (including
reasonable attorney fees), regardless of whether Lessor’s cost may be higher than
available to Lessee, together with interest thereon at the Default Rate, shall be paid by
Lessee to Lessor upon demand.
1 7 . Indemnity. Lessee shall be liable for and reimburse, indemnify and hold
harmless Lessor and Assignee, and their respective employees, officers, agents,
representative, successors and assigns from and against any and all claims, liabilities,
losses, damages, costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorney
fees) of every kind or nature (in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of or in
connection with (a) the manufacture, selection, acquisition, purchase, delivery, nondelivery, condition, installation, inspection, rejection, latent and other defects,
ownership, possession, operation, use, maintenance, transportation, return, storage,
removal, or disposition of the Leased Property, (b) death, injury or damage to persons
or property, including environmental damage; (c) Lessee’s tax or accounting
treatment of any Lease; (d) infringement; (e) any Event of Default; and (f) any claim
relating to any interruption of services, loss of business or consequential damages.
Lessee shall give Lessor prompt written notice of any event that may give rise to a
claim for indemnification hereunder. This indemnity shall survive the expiration or
termination of any Lease.
18. No Warranties; Waiver. Lessee represents that the Leased Property is of a size,
design, type and capacity selected by Lessee, and is suitable and fit for Lessee’s
purposes. LESSOR IS NOT THE SUPPLIER OR MANUFACTURER OF THE
LEASED PROPERTY, NOR THE AGENT THEREOF, AND MAKES NO
WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED
REGARDING
THE LEASED
PROPERTY,
INCLUDING
WITHOUT
LIMITATION AS TO FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, QUALITY,
DESIGN,
CHARACTER,
ORIGIN,
CONDITION,
WORKMANSHIP,
MATERIALS, CAPACITY, DURABILITY, MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY,
PERFORMANCE, VALUE, THE CONFORMITY OF THE LEASED PROPERTY
TO THE PROVISIONS AND SPECIFICATIONS OF ANY PURCHASE ORDER
OR SUPPLY CONTRACT RELATING THERETO OR NON-INFRINGEMENT,
WHETHER PATENT, TRADEMARK, COPYRIGHT OR OTHERWISE, AND
LESSOR
EXPRESSLY
DISCLAIMS
ALL
WARRANTIES
AND
REPRESENTATIONS, IT BEING AGREED THAT THE LEASED PROPERTY IS
LEASED “AS IS, WHERE IS,” WITH ALL FAULTS . Lessee agrees that neither the
Supplier, nor any broker or other party, is an agent of Lessor, nor are they authorized
to represent or bind Lessor, waive or alter any term of any Lease, or make any
promise or representation on Lessor’s behalf. To the extent assignable, and in the
absence of any Default, Lessor assigns to Lessee during the Lease, any warranty rights
it may have received from the Supplier; provided, however, that if Lessee receives
any remuneration, money, reimbursement or other benefit (a “ Warranty Benefit”)
from a Supplier or any other party in connection the Leased Property, such Warranty
Benefit shall belong solely to Lessor, and Lessee shall promptly notify Lessor of any
such Warranty Benefit, and deliver the same to Lessor promptly upon receipt. In no
event shall Lessor be liable to Lessee or any other party for consequential,
incidental, special, exemplary or similar damages arising out of or related to the
transactions contemplated hereunder (in tort, contract or otherwise), including
without limitation loss of data, benefits of use, business or anticipated profits, even
if Lessor is apprised of the likelihood of such damages occurring, and Lessee
unconditionally and irrevocably waives and releases any claim therefor.
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19. Default. Each of the following is a material “Event of Default”: (a) Lessee fails
to make any payment due hereunder, including without limitation any Pro Rata Rental
Fees, Basic Rent, Taxes, charge, fee or other sum within five (5) days of the due date
(provided that such five-day grace period shall apply to no more than three payments
in any given calendar year); (b) Lessee breaches or fails to observe or perform any
warranty, covenant or other obligation under a Lease (other than a payment
obligation) for more than ten (10) days after it is due; (c) Lessee breaches any other
agreement between Lessee and Lessor, including another Lease, and fails to cure such
breach within any applicable grace period; (d) Lessee attempts to or does remove, sell,
assign, transfer, convey, encumber, sublet, part with possession, abandon or cease use
of any one or more items of Leased Property or any interest under any Lease or
copies, transfers, imports or conveys any Software, or any derivative work thereof, or
permits a judgment or other claim to become a lien upon any item of Leased Property,
(e) Lessee makes any attempt to settle or compromise any insurance, indemnity,
Warranty Benefit or other claim or obligation related to a Lease or Leased Property
without Lessor’s prior written consent; (f) Lessee fails to promptly (within ten (10)
days) notify Lessor of the occurrence of any Casualty or any Event of Default, (g)
Lessee furnishes any false or misleading representation or information (oral or written)
or breaches any representation or warranty in any Lease Document; (h) Lessee
breaches any License, or any material loan, financing or other agreement with any
other party; (i) a petition is filed by or against Lessee or its assets under any
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or foreclosure law, and, if filed against Lessee, is
not stayed or dismissed within sixty (60) days; provided, however, that any such filing
shall be deemed an Event of Default, the occurrence of which shall give Lessor the
right, with or without notice, to immediately enforce any right and/or remedy with
respect to any guarantor, surety, letter of credit issuer, or other third party; (j) the
occurrence of a Material Adverse Change; (k) Lessee fails to promptly execute and
deliver to Lessor and/or Assignee any document, instrument or record required under
any Lease; (l) Lessee files, causes or consents to be filed a termination statement for
any financing statement filed by Lessor or Assignee; (m) Lessor believes, in its
commercially reasonable discretion, that the prospect of payment or performance has
become impaired, or if Lessee takes any action or makes any representation, at any
time, which causes Lessor to believe, in its commercially reasonable discretion, that the
prospect of Lessee’s performance under any Lease is impaired; (n) Lessee does not for
any reason execute and deliver a Final Acceptance Certificate; (o) any breach of
Section 13; (p) Lessee breaches any other provision of the Lease, including without
limitation Lessee’s failure to provide financial statements and tax returns as required
herein; and (q) any Event of Default occurs with respect to any guarantor or any
guarantor revokes or disputes the validity of or liability under any guaranty, or any
guarantor, if an individual, dies or becomes incompetent. The term “Default” shall
mean an Event of Default or an event which would be an Event of Default with the
passage of time or the giving of notice, or both. No course of dealing or delay or
failure to assert any Default shall constitute a waiver of that, or any prior or
subsequent, Default.

2 0 . Remedies. Upon an Event of Default, Lessor may exercise, at its sole option,
one or more of the following remedies: (a) accelerate and declare immediately due
and payable, as liquidated damages for the loss of a bargain and not as a penalty, (i)
all Basic Rent and other sums due as of the date of the Default and to become due for
the remaining Term, including without limitation the Extension Term, plus the
purchase price applicable to the Purchase Option (the “Rent Default Value”), or (ii) all
Basic Rent and other sums due as of the date of the Default, plus an amount equal to
the Stipulated Loss Value set forth on the applicable Stipulated Loss Schedule,
determined as of the month prior to the occurrence of the Default (the “Stipulated
Default Value”); (b) with or without legal process, notice or demand, and whether or
not the Lease is terminated, enter peaceably upon the premises where the Leased
Property is located and take possession of, repossess and remove (or disable in place)
the Leased Property, and Lessee agrees to cooperate and not interfere with such
repossession; (c) upon written demand require Lessee to return the Leased Property to
Lessor in accordance with Section 10 above; (d) exercise any rights or remedies set
forth in Section 2; (e) sell, re-lease or otherwise dispose of the Leased Property to any
person on any terms Lessor determines in its sole and absolute discretion, at one or
more public or private sales, with or without notice to Lessee, and apply the net
proceeds, after deducting costs and expenses, to Lessee’s obligations with Lessee
remaining liable for any deficiency and with any excess being retained by Lessor; (f)
exercise any indemnity or other rights provided under any Lease; (g) cancel or
terminate any or all Leases and/or terminate Lessee’s rights to use and possess the
Leased Property, but not its obligations, or otherwise exercise any remedy provided
herein with respect to any other Lease; (h) if Lessee breaches any of its obligations
under Section 13, Lessee shall be liable to Lessor for additional damages in an amount
equal to the original license fee paid by Lessor for the Software, and in addition, at
Lessor’s option, Lessor shall additionally be entitled to injunctive relief; (i) declare
any License terminated or Lessee’s rights thereunder suspended, whereupon the right
of Lessee to use the Software shall immediately terminate, and Lessee shall thereupon
cease all use of the Software and return all copies thereof to Lessor or the original
Supplier, as applicable, and waives and releases any claim for any and all losses,
damages, expenses or other detriment that it might suffer as a result thereof. Lessee
acknowledges and agrees that the detriment which Lessor will suffer as a result of a
breach by Lessee of the obligations contained in the License cannot be adequately
compensated by monetary damages, and therefore in addition to the foregoing
remedies Lessor shall be entitled (without posting a bond) to injunctive and other
equitable relief to enforce the provisions of this subsection; and/or (j) exercise any
other right or remedy available to Lessor under the Lease and applicable law. Upon
Lessee’s payment in full of the Rent Default Value or the Stipulated Default Value, as
applicable, and payment of any other remaining obligations of Lessee, Lessor will
quitclaim Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property to Lessee, on an “as-is, where-is”
basis, without representation or warranty. No exercise of Lessor’s remedies shall effect
a cancellation or termination of any Lease; any cancellation or termination of a Lease
shall occur only upon written notice by Lessor and only as to such Lease and Leased
Property as Lessor specifically elects to cancel or terminate in such written notice.
Lessee’s obligations under any Lease shall continue in full force and effect as to the
remaining portions of the Lease and Leased Property, if any. No remedy referred to
herein is intended to be exclusive, but each shall be cumulative and in addition to any
other right or remedy referred to above and available under applicable law. Any and
all such rights and remedies may be exercised from time to time and as often and in
such order as Lessor may deem expedient, and no delay, omission or failure by Lessor
to promptly enforce any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver of such
right or remedy, and Lessor’s waiver of any right or remedy shall not constitute a
waiver of any prior, subsequent or other right or remedy. Any waiver by Lessor of
any right or remedy must be in writing specifically identifying what is being waived.
Lessor may accept late payments or partial payments of amounts due or to become
due under a Lease and may delay enforcing any of Lessor’s rights or remedies
without waiving any of Lessor’s rights or remedies. With respect to any Software,
Lessor shall have the right to retain and fully exercise all of its rights and elections
under Title 11 of the United States Code, specifically including without limitation
Section 365. If a petition in bankruptcy is filed by or against Lessee, Lessee agrees to
assume or reject this Master Lease and all applicable Schedules, including the License
granted to Lessee, within sixty (60) days thereof. The personal property lease of the
Leased Property and the License may not be severed for purposes of a Lease unless
otherwise agreed to by Lessor in writing in its sole and absolute discretion. LESSOR
SHALL HAVE NO DUTY TO MITIGATE LESSOR’S DAMAGES UNDER ANY
LEASE OR LICENSE BY TAKING LEGAL ACTION TO RECOVER THE LEASED
PROPERTY OR SOFTWARE FROM LESSEE OR ANY THIRD PARTY, OR TO
DISPOSE OF THE LEASED PROPERTY OR SOFTWARE BY SALE, RE-LEASE OR
OTHERWISE.
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21.

Lease Options.
(a) Provided no Event of Default has occurred, at the end of the Base Term,
Lessee shall have the following options: (i) purchase all but not less than all of the
Leased Property for a price to be agreed upon by Lessor and Lessee, plus applicable
Taxes and charges upon sale (the “ Purchase Option”); (ii) extend the Lease for an
additional twelve (12) months (the “Extension Term”) at the same rental rate and terms
of the applicable Lease (the “Extension Option”); or (iii) return all but not less than all
of the Leased Property in accordance with Section 10 above (the “Return Option”),
provided, however, that to exercise the Return Option, Lessee must enter into a new
Schedule to lease equipment and/or property which upgrades or replaces the Leased
Property, at the same or substantially similar rental rate and terms as that of the
applicable Lease. With respect to the Purchase Option, each party shall have the right
in its absolute and sole discretion to accept or reject any terms of purchase. In the
event Lessor and Lessee have not agreed to the terms of such purchase by the end of
the Base Term, then the Extension Option shall automatically apply. Upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default, the Purchase Option and the Return Option set
forth in this Section 21(a) shall terminate and Lessee shall be deemed to have
irrevocably elected the Extension Option.
(b)
To exercise one of the options set forth in Section 21(a), Lessee shall
provide written notice to Lessor (an “Election Notice”) no less than one hundred
eighty (180) days prior to the end of the Base Term and satisfy all other rental,
payment and other obligations under the applicable Lease. The Election Notice must
be timely delivered by either certified mail or by a nationally recognized overnight
courier, each with written evidence of receipt, and shall unequivocally and irrevocably
elect the Purchase Option, Extension Option, or Return Option. If an Election Notice is
not timely delivered specifically in the manner set forth herein, then Lessee shall be
deemed to have irrevocably elected the Extension Option. Any attempt to exercise one
of the above options in any other manner, including without limitation by oral
communication, electronic mail, facsimile, telephone or otherwise, at any time, shall
not be effective and shall be null and void. Lessee acknowledges and agrees these
options and the manner of election are to be strictly adhered to.
(c) At the end of the Extension Term or any time thereafter, provided no Event
of Default has occurred and contingent upon Lessee’s satisfaction of all rental,
payment and other obligations under the applicable Lease, Lessee may, by providing
an Election Notice no less than thirty (30) days in advance, (i) purchase the Leased
Property in accordance with the Section 21(a)(i); or (ii) return all but not less than all
of the Leased Property in accordance with Section 10 and terminate the applicable
Schedule. With respect to the option to purchase set forth in this Section 21(c)(i), each
party shall have the right in its absolute and sole discretion to accept or reject any
terms of purchase. Until Lessee purchases or returns the Leased Property in
accordance with Section 21(c)(i) or (ii), the Lease shall continue on a month-to-month
basis at the same rental rate and terms of the applicable Lease. At any time during the
month-to-month term, Lessee may terminate the Lease by purchasing or returning the
Leased Property in accordance with the options set forth in this Section 21(c).
(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the applicable Lease,
including without limitation this Section 21, Lessee’s rental, payment and other
obligations shall remain and continue in full force and effect until Lessee has, pursuant
to a timely and validly exercised option, (i) paid the full purchase price or (ii) returned
the Leased Property to Lessor, as applicable, and satisfied all other obligations under
the Lease. Upon Lessee’s payment of the purchase price pursuant to a timely and
validly exercised option to purchase, Lessor will quitclaim Lessor’s interest in the
Leased Property to Lessee, on an “as-is, where-is” basis, without representation or
warranty.
(e)
With respect to the value of the Leased Property, Lessee represents that
Lessor has not made, and Lessee has not relied on, any representation, estimate,
forecast, valuation, promise or commitment (written or oral) relating thereto.

22. Special Terms; Certain Definitions. Any special terms set forth in one or more
schedules, exhibit and/or rider to this Master Lease or the Schedule , will be applicable
as though fully set forth herein. When used in this Master Lease: (a) “Material Adverse
Change” shall mean any material adverse change in (or the occurrence of any event,
change, action or omission, legal proceeding, judgment or other fact or circumstance
or combination thereof that has or might reasonably be expected to materially
adversely affect) Lessee’s creditworthiness, financial condition, prospects or ability to
perform its obligations under any Lease; (b) “Fair Market Value ” shall mean the
installed and in-place value of the Leased Property, which would be obtained in an
arms-length transaction between an informed and willing buyer-user under no
compulsion to buy and an informed and willing seller under no compulsion to sell, to
which have been added the direct and indirect costs of installation, delivery and
implementation, and assuming the Leased Property (i) has been properly maintained
and kept in the condition required by the Lease, and (ii) is fully functional and
operating at its maximum rated capacity. For purposes of valuation, no deduction
shall be made for deinstallation, reinstallation, or any operational, production or
output deficiencies in connection with Lessee’s use of the Leased Property. In the
event of any dispute, the Fair Market Value of the Leased Property shall be
determined by Lessor in its sole discretion in accordance with the terms set forth
herein. With respect to any Purchase Option, Lessee represents that Lessor has not
made, and Lessee has not relied on, any representation, estimate, forecast, valuation,
promise or commitment (written or oral) relating to the value of the Leased Property.
2 3 . Governing Law; Venue; Jury Waiver . This Master Lease and any Schedule
shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Utah regardless of
conflicts of law principles. All matters in any way relating to or arising out of any
Lease, including without limitation any claim, dispute, controversy or the legal
relationship between the parties shall be heard solely and exclusively in the state
and federal courts located in Salt Lake County, Utah, no lawsuit, proceeding or
any other action relating to or arising under the Lease Documents or the
transactions contemplated thereby may be commenced or prosecuted in any other
forum, and Lessor and Lessee (a) unconditionally and irrevocably submit to the
sole and exclusive jurisdiction of such courts, (b) waive any objection to such
jurisdiction, venue or convenience of forum, and (c) to the fullest extent permitted
by law waive all rights to a trial by jury. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee
acknowledges and agrees that Lessor, in its sole and absolute discretion, may also
initiate proceedings in the courts of any other jurisdiction in which Lessee is
organized or transacting business or where the Leased Property is located.
24. General. (a) Notices required hereunder, other than an Election Notice, shall be
in writing and delivered in person or sent by U.S. mail, overnight courier or facsimile;
(b) Time is of the essence with respect to all of Lessee’s obligations under any Lease;
(c) The provisions contained in this Master Lease and each Schedule shall be
independent and severable; the invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of any such
provision shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of any other provision;
(d) The headings used herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the
interpretation of any provision hereof; (e) The Lease Documents may be executed in
any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall, in
each case, be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument; provided, however, that each Schedule shall constitute chattel paper, and
no security interest herein or therein may be created or perfected through the transfer
or possession of each Schedule in and of itself without the transfer or possession or
control, as applicable, of the original counterpart of such Schedule. Accordingly,
there shall be only one original of each Schedule executed by Lessor and only after
being executed by Lessee, and all other counterparts shall be duplicates and may be
marked as such; (f) If two or more parties execute this Master Lease as Lessee, each
party shall be jointly and severally liable for all of Lessee’s representations, warranties,
covenants and obligations; (g) All statements as to factual matters contained in any
certificate, document or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of Lessee in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be
representations and warranties by Lessee hereunder.
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2 5 . Confidentiality. Lessee shall keep this Master Lease and each Schedule and
Lease Document confidential and shall not allow them to be delivered, disseminated or
disclosed to anyone (other than Lessee’s attorneys, accountants or other advisors
subject to a duty of confidentiality, or otherwise as required by law, provided that
Lessee shall give Lessor prompt notice of any such requirement), without the prior
written consent of Lessor. Lessee acknowledges that any unauthorized delivery,
dissemination or disclosure could cause Lessor to suffer irreparable economic harm
and in consequence thereof Lessor shall be entitled to injunctive and other equitable
relief to enforce the provisions of this Section.
26. Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Master Lease and the Schedule, together
only with those ancillary written agreements, certificates and instruments entered into
expressly pursuant thereto (the “Lease Documents”), constitute the entire, final and
conclusive expression of the agreement between the parties with respect to each Lease,
and may not be contradicted or modified by any alleged prior, contemporaneous or
subsequent representation, promise, agreement or understanding (oral or written).
Lessee agrees and represents that all prior discussions and negotiations (oral or
written), whether by electronic mail, telephone, written communication or otherwise,
including without limitation any letter of intent, proposal or credit approval, have
resulted in and are superseded in their entirety by the Lease Documents, there are no
other agreements or understandings (oral or written) between the parties, and Lessor
has made no representation, promise or warranty to Lessee that is not expressly
contained in the Lease Documents. The Lease Documents may not be modified except
by written amendment signed by all of the parties. Any rule of law that would require
interpretation of any claimed ambiguities in any Lease Document against the party that
drafted it has no application and any such right is expressly waived.
27. Article 2A Waivers; Statute of Limitations. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, Lessee waives any and all rights and remedies granted a lessee by Article 2A
of the UCC, including without limitation Sections 70a-2a-401 - 402 and 508 – 522
and/or any other right to: (a) cancel or terminate any Lease, (b) reject or revoke
acceptance of the Leased Property, (c) claim, grant or permit a lien or security
interest in the Leased Property, (d) deduct or offset any claimed damages resulting
from any alleged default of Lessor, (e) cover by making any purchase or lease of
property in substitution of the Leased Property, (f) commence legal action against
Lessor for specific performance, replevin, sequestration or similar claim, (g) any
law or right that may require Lessor to sell, lease or otherwise use any Leased
Property in mitigation of Lessor’s damages or which may otherwise limit or
modify any of Lessor’s rights or remedies. Any cause of action against Lessor or
Assignee for any claim related to or arising from a Lease (in contract, tort or
otherwise) shall be barred unless commenced within one (1) year after the
occurrence of the alleged facts or circumstances upon which it is based.

2 8 . Assignment; No Third Party Beneficiaries. Lessee shall not assign, encumber
or delegate any Lease or any rights or obligations under any Lease, or sublease, sell or
grant or allow a security interest or lien in the Leased Property, including without
limitation by operation of law, whether by the acquisition in any transaction or series
of transactions by any person or group of persons of a material portion of the
beneficial ownership of Lessee, merger, reorganization, consolidation, share exchange
or similar transaction, the sale, lease or disposition of all or substantially all of the
assets of Lessee or a change in control of its board of directors, managers or other
comparable governing body, without Lessor’s prior written consent, to be given or
withheld in Lessor’s sole and absolute discretion. Each Lease shall be binding upon
Lessee’s permitted successors and assigns. Lessor may assign or transfer any Lease
and/or Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property to another party (“ Assignee”) either
outright or for financing purposes, and release information about Lessee and each
Lease to the manufacturer, Supplier or any prospective Assignee. Lessor’s Assignee
shall have all of the rights of Lessor under each Lease but none of Lessor’s
obligations. Lessee shall not assert against any Assignee any claims, defenses or setoffs which Lessee could assert against Lessor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessor
may retain and perform the servicing for any Lease. Upon Lessor’s assignment or
transfer to an Assignee, Lessee shall promptly execute or authenticate and deliver to
Lessor estoppel certificates, acknowledgements of assignment, records and other
documents or instruments requested by Lessor in connection with such assignment or
transfer. Each Lease is made for the sole and exclusive benefit of Lessor, its successors
and assigns; no third party shall have any right or benefit under any
Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Lessor hereby
consents to the merger of Lessee with and into a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Orchestra-Premaman S.A., pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated as of December 19, 2016, on the following terms and conditions: (a) Lessee
shall be the surviving entity of such merger; (b) other than a change in ownership
pursuant to such merger, Lessee’s operations, assets and financial condition shall be
materially the same immediately after the consummation of the merger as compared to
the moment immediately preceding the consummation of such merger; (c) this
consent is limited to the single merger transaction described herein above and cannot
be assigned; and (d) such merger shall be completed within one (1) year from the date
of this Agreement.
2 9 . Expenses. (a) Lessee shall reimburse Lessor, and Lessor shall be entitled to
recover from Lessee, all costs, expenses and reasonable attorney fees incurred by
Lessor: (i) in preparation and negotiation of the Lease Documents, including a $495
documentation fee per Schedule, (ii) in defending or protecting its interest in the
Lease and Leased Property, including without limitation filing any financing
statements, amendments or similar filings, (iii) in exercising any right or remedy
under a Lease, regardless of whether any legal proceeding is commenced, including
without limitation all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any Default,
repossession, recovery, storage, inspection, appraisal, commission, repair,
remarketing, sale, re-lease or other disposition of the Leased Property, termination or
disabling of Software, court costs, litigation expenses, expert witness fees, any
indemnity claim, collection activities, and the preparation of any default notices,
amendments, forbearance or settlement agreements; (b) upon a Default, all amounts
payable by Lessee hereunder, including without limitation amounts set forth in the
preceding subsection (a), and all Pro Rata Rental Fees, Basic Rent, Taxes, charges,
costs and expenses, the Rent Default Value or Stipulated Default Value, as applicable,
shall accrue interest, both before and after judgment, at the lesser of eighteen percent
(18%) per annum or the highest rate permitted by law (the “Default Rate”) from the
date of Default until paid in full.
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3 0 . Nature of Lease; Protection of Interest; Security Interests; Further
Assurances.
(a)
Unless expressly set forth in a Schedule to the contrary, each Lease is
intended to be a “true lease” under all applicable law, including for tax and
bankruptcy purposes, and not a lease intended as security, loan, installment or
conditional sales contract or any other type of agreement, and Lessee shall not take
any contrary position in any legal or administrative proceeding or otherwise. As a
precaution, in the event that contrary to the intentions of Lessee and Lessor a Lease is
determined by a court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be other
than a true lease under applicable law, in order to secure the prompt and full payment
and performance as and when due of any and all obligations and indebtedness of
Lessee to Lessor, now existing or hereafter created of any kind whatsoever, Lessee
hereby collaterally assigns, grants, pledges and conveys to Lessor for the benefit of the
Lessor, a security interest, International Interests, and security assignment in and lien
on all of Lessee’s right, title and interest in, to and under all of the following (i) this
Master Lease, the Lease and Leased Property (or Lessee’s interest and/or License rights
in the Leased Property if the Leased Property is Software, whether the Software is
embedded or otherwise); (ii) any and all present and future subleases, management
agreements, interchange agreements, charter agreements, associated rights and any
other present and future agreements of any kind whatsoever relating to the Leased
Property or any part thereof and all rent, charter payments, reimbursements and other
disbursements, remittances or other amounts payable with respect thereto, including,
without limitation, all rent and other amounts constituting associated rights secured by
or associated with the Leased Property, and any related international interests; (iii) any
and all proceeds of the foregoing, including all related goods, accounts, Software
warranties and manuals, license rights, renewals, upgrades, modifications,
customizations, refunds, rebates, remittances, and all rights and services related
thereto, associated rights, chattel paper, documents, instruments, general intangibles,
letters of credit, letter of credit rights, investment property, deposit accounts,
supporting obligations, insurance proceeds, warranty and requisition payments,
replacements, substitutions, attachments, accessions to, and all other casualty amounts
and other amounts constituting proceeds, and all present and future books and records
relating to any of the foregoing, and Lessee reaffirms all of Lessee’s obligations under
such Lease, irrespective of any such determination.

(b)
With regard to any security interest created hereunder in any of the Leased
Property, Lessee consents and agrees that Lessor shall have all of the rights, privileges
and remedies of a secured party under the UCC. Lessee shall use its best efforts to
protect Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property, each Lease and the amounts due or to
become due under each Lease. Lessee authorizes (and/or ratifies) Lessor and any
Assignee to file UCC financing statements, precautionary, security instruments,
continuation, amendment, fixture or other filings in the appropriate filing or
recording office and/or to take any other measures as Lessor deems necessary to
evidence and protect Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property, including, to the extent
any of the Leased Property could be deemed a fixture, recording a fixture filing on
the real property where the Leased Property is located. In the event any of the Leased
Property shall be deemed or otherwise become ordinary building materials
incorporated into real property, Lessee hereby acknowledges that the Lease and all of
Lessee’s obligations under the Lease shall remain in full force and effect without
modification. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Lessee hereby irrevocably
grants a security interest in and authorizes Lessor to file any financing statements or
other security instruments, in the appropriate filing office that indicate as collateral to
secure Lessee’s obligations hereunder all assets of Lessee or words of similar effect,
including all goods, machinery, furnishings, fixtures, equipment, general intangibles,
accounts, inventory, personal and other property, and any accessions, substitutions,
replacements, proceeds and products thereof, wherever located, and whether now or
hereafter existing. Any item of Leased Property that is subject to title and registration
laws will at all times be titled and/or registered in such a manner and in such
jurisdictions as Lessor directs. Lessee will promptly notify Lessor in writing of any
necessary or advisable re-titling and/or re-registration of any item of Leased Property
in a different or additional jurisdiction. Lessee will do whatever may be necessary to
have a statement of Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property noted on any applicable
certificate of title and will deposit said certificate with Lessor. Lessee hereby grants to
Lessor a first priority security interest in all deposits and other monies or property
transferred, pledged to, or held by, Lessor or Assignee to secure the payment and
performance of Lessee’s obligations under the Lease. Lessee shall promptly execute or
authenticate, and deliver to Lessor such further documents, instruments, assurances
and other records, and take such further action as Lessor may reasonably request in
order to protect Lessor’s interest in the Leased Property and carry out the intent and
purpose of each Lease and to establish and protect the rights and remedies created or
intended to be created in favor of Lessor or its Assignee under each Lease.
31. Financial Reporting. Lessee agrees to promptly furnish or cause to be furnished
to Lessor (i) Lessee’s interim financial statements within forty-five days of the end of
each fiscal quarter, including the fourth quarter, and compiled, reviewed or audited,
as applicable, annual financial statements within one hundred twenty (120) days of the
end of each fiscal year, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, or upon Lessor’s request, as the case may be, and (ii) upon filing with the
applicable tax authority, or upon Lessor’s request, as the case may be, copies of
Lessee’s federal and state tax returns, and (iii) such other information Lessor
reasonably requests from time to time.
32. Submission of Lease. Submission of this Master Lease or any Schedule to Lessee
does not constitute an offer to lease. This Master Lease and any Schedule shall become
effective only upon Lessee’s execution and delivery to Lessor, which shall constitute
its offer to lease the Leased Property described, and upon the terms and conditions set
forth, herein and therein, and Lessor’s subsequent execution thereof in Utah and
delivery to Lessee shall constitute its acceptance of the Lease. This Master Lease and
each Schedule shall be deemed made in Utah.
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BY SIGNING BELOW, LESSEE REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS FULLY AND CAREFULLY READ THIS MASTER LEASE AND THE LEASE DOCUMENTS PRIOR TO
EXECUTION, UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES TO THE TERMS OF THIS MASTER LEASE AND THE LEASE DOCUMENTS AND LESSEE’S OBLIGATIONS UNDER
EACH LEASE, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION THE MANNER REQUIRED TO EXERCISE A LEASE OPTION, LESSEE HAS BEEN (OR HAS HAD THE
OPPORTUNITY TO BE) APPRISED BY LEGAL, TAX, ACCOUNTING OR OTHER ADVISORS OF ITS OWN CHOOSING AS TO THE EFFECT AND MEANING
OF THIS MASTER LEASE AND THE LEASE DOCUMENTS, HAS BEEN AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO NEGOTIATE AS TO ANY AND ALL TERMS OF
THIS MASTER LEASE AND THE LEASE DOCUMENTS, THAT THIS MASTER LEASE AND THE LEASE DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN NEGOTIATED AT ARMS’
LENGTH BY PARTIES OF EQUAL BARGAINING POWER, AND THAT THE MASTER LEASE AND LEASE DOCUMENTS CONSTITUTE THE COMPLETE AND
EXCLUSIVE STATEMENT OF THE PARTIES’ AGREEMENT, AND LESSEE HAS NOT RELIED ON, AND IT SHALL NOT BE REASONABLE FOR LESSEE TO
RELY ON, AND HEREBY WAIVES ANY CLAIM IT RELIED ON ANY ALLEGED REPRESENTATION, PROMISE, STATEMENT, AGREEMENT OR
UNDERSTANDING (ORAL OR WRITTEN) OF LESSOR, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY OFFICER, DIRECTOR, REPRESENTATIVE, EMPLOYEE,
AGENT, AFFILIATE OR SERVANT OF LESSOR, THAT IS NOT EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THE LEASE DOCUMENTS.
Lessor and Lessee, by their respective duly authorized agents, have executed this Master Lease to be effective as of the date first above written.
LESSOR:

LESSEE:

TFG-New Jersey, L.P.

Destination Maternity Corporation

By:
/s/ Jordan K. Greenwell
Name: Jordan K. Greenwell
Title:
Chief Credit Officer

By:
/s/ David R. Stern
Name: David R. Stern
Title: Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
STATE OF NEW JERSEY
COUNTY OF BURLINGTON

}
} ss.
}

On this 25th day of May, 2017, for and on behalf of Destination Maternity Corporation, the foregoing instrument was executed and acknowledged personally before me
by David R. Stern, being duly authorized therefor, for the purposes therein contained.
Tina F. Cowen
Notary Public, Attorney-at-Law of the State of New Jersey authorized to administer this oath pursuant to N.J.S.A. 41:2-1
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Exhibit 10.8
Lease Schedule No.
Master Lease Agreement No.

DMCR_002
2047981

LEASE SCHEDULE NO. DMCR_002
This LEASE SCHEDULE NO. DMCR_002 (“Schedule”) is entered into by TFG-New Jersey, L.P., a limited partnership organized under the
laws of the State of Utah, with a principal address of 6995 Union Park Center, Suite 400, Cottonwood Heights, Utah 84047 (“Lessor”), and Destination
Maternity Corporation, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, with a principal address of 232 Strawbridge Drive,
Moorestown, New Jersey 08057, (“Lessee”), pursuant to that certain Master Lease Agreement No. 2047981, dated May 25, 2017 (the “Master Lease,”
and together with this Schedule, the “Lease,” as amended, restated, revised or otherwise modified). This Schedule, incorporating by reference the terms
of the Master Lease, together with Exhibits A and B attached hereto, constitutes a separate, independent lease contract. Capitalized terms used but not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Master Lease.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Leased Property
The Leased Property shall be as set forth on Exhibit A.
Leased Property Location
The Leased Property shall be at the locations set forth on Exhibit A.
Final Acceptance Date
As set forth in the Final Acceptance Certificate or as determined in accordance the Master Lease.
Base Term
36 months with Basic Rent billed monthly starting on the Commencement Date.
Basic Rent
Months 1-24: $123,255.99, plus applicable Taxes, due and payable monthly in advance by ACH initiated by Lessor.
Months 25-36: $48,411.97, plus applicable Taxes, due and payable monthly in advance by ACH initiated by Lessor.
6.
Prepayment of Basic Rent for the last billing period of the Term
$48,411.97
7.
Leased Property Cost
$3,400,925.00
8.
Lease Rate Factor
.0362419 for months 1-24 and .01423494 for payments 25-36
9.
Purchase Option
For purposes of this Schedule only, and provided no Default has occurred and is continuing, the purchase price for a timely
and validly exercised option to purchase the Leased Property pursuant to Section 21 of the Master Lease will not exceed 17% of the Leased Property
Cost.
10.
Optional Prepayment
Lessee may purchase the Leased Property and terminate this Lease after the Commencement Date by providing 30
days written notice and paying all remaining Basic Rent and other obligations for the Term and the applicable Purchase Option price.
11.
For the purposes of this Schedule only, the following modifications shall be made to Master Lease.
(a) Section 7(h) of the Master Lease shall be deleted in its entirely and replaced with the following:
“(h) Lessor shall receive good and marketable title to the Leased Property free and clear of any claims, interests, liens, security interest or
other encumbrances;”
(b) Section 10(a) of the Master Lease shall be deleted in its entirely and replaced with the following:
“(a) provide a suitable place for the operation of the Leased Property, and shall not move the Leased Property from the location stated in the
Schedule without the prior written consent of Lessor; provided, that if the Leased Property is moved Lessee shall deliver to Lessor a lien
waiver, subordination or other instrument in a form satisfactory to Lessor from all persons who might assert an interest, lien or other claim in
the Leased Property, including any landlord or creditor;”
(c) Section 14 of the Master Lease shall be modified by deleting the initial portion of the fourth sentence begining on the eigth line of such
Section 14 to the colon and replacing it with the following:
“On the next succeeding payment date, Lessee shall, at the option of Lessor:”
(d) Except as expressly set forth in this Section 11, the Master Lease shall not by implication or otherwise be modified, altered, supplemented or
amended, but shall remain in full force and effect, as amended hereby.
12.
Lessee’s execution and delivery of this Schedule shall constitute its offer to lease the Leased Property described herein upon the terms and
conditions set forth herein. Lessor’s subsequent execution of this Schedule in Utah and delivery to Lessee shall constitute its acceptance of the Lease.
The Lease shall be deemed made in Utah.
For the purpose of inducing Lessor’s performance under this Schedule, Lessee hereby represents, warrants and covenants to and for the benefit of
Lessor that (a) Lessee has the right and has taken all actions required by law, or otherwise, to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this
Schedule, and to carry out its obligations hereunder; (b) this Schedule constitutes the valid, legal and binding obligations of Lessee, strictly
enforceable in accordance with its terms, free from defenses, set-offs and counterclaims, subject only to bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally; (c) the Master Lease is
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hereby ratified and reaffirmed in its entirety, and Lessee agrees to pay and perform when due all obligations applicable to the Lessee thereunder; (d) all
representations, warranties, covenants, waivers and releases of Lessee in the Master Lease are true, accurate and complete as of the date made, and
remain true, accurate and complete, and in full force and effect, as of the date hereof, and are hereby reaffirmed by Lessee and incorporated as if fully set
forth herein; (e) all information, statements and representations (oral or written) furnished by Lessee, or on its behalf, are true, accurate, and complete in
all material respects, and do not contain any untrue statement of material fact, or omit to state a fact necessary to make such information, statements and
representations not misleading; (f) all conditions precedent in the Lease have been satisfied. Any recitals in the preamble above are incorporated into
this Schedule.
THE ORIGINAL OF THIS SCHEDULE SHALL ALONE CONSTITUTE CHATTEL
PAPER FOR PURPOSES OF PERFECTING A SECURITY INTEREST.
This Schedule has been duly executed to be effective as of May 25, 2017.
LESSOR:

LESSEE:

TFG-New Jersey, L.P.

Destination Maternity Corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jordan K. Greenwell
Jordan K. Greenwell
Chief Credit Officer

/s/ David R. Stern
David R. Stern
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
STATE OF NEW JERSEY

}
} ss.
COUNTY OF BURLINGTON}
On this 25th day of May, 2017, for and on behalf of Destination Maternity Corporation, the foregoing instrument was executed and
acknowledged personally before me by David R. Stern, being duly authorized therefor, for the purposes therein contained.
Tina F. Cowen
Notary Public, Attorney-at-Law of the State of New Jersey authorized to administer this oath pursuant to N.J.S.A. 41:2-1
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ORIGINAL
BILL OF SALE
THIS BILL OF SALE is given by Destination Maternity Corporation (“Seller”), to TFG-New Jersey, L.P. (“ Buyer”), in
connection with that certain Lease Schedule No. DMCR_002, dated May 25, 2017 (the “Schedule”) to Master Lease
Agreement No. 2047981, dated May 25, 2017 (the “Master Lease” and together with the Schedule, the “Lease” as amended,
restated, revised or otherwise modified), by and between Seller, as Lessee, and Buyer, as Lessor. Capitalized terms used but
not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease.
For good and valuable consideration, Seller hereby sells, assigns, transfers and conveys to Buyer all right, title and
interest in and to the equipment, machinery, goods and other property more particularly set forth on Exhibit A attached
hereto and incorporated herein (collectively, the “Property”).
Seller hereby represents, warrants and covenants to and for the benefit of Buyer that (a) Seller has the right and has
taken all actions required by law, or otherwise, to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Bill of Sale, and
to carry out its obligations hereunder; (b) this Bill of Sale constitutes the valid, legal and binding obligations of Seller,
strictly enforceable in accordance with its terms, free from defenses, set-offs and counterclaims, subject only to bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; (c) Seller has full authority to sell, assign and transfer the
Property and no other person has any present or future interest in the Property; (d) Seller owns the Property, and does hereby
convey to Buyer good and valid title to the Property, free and clear of all liens, security interests, claims, demands, rights,
taxes, mortgages, charges, demands, exceptions, adverse claims, or other encumbrances of any kind (“Encumbrances”); (e)
the Property is, and at the time of closing shall be, in good repair, operating condition, appearance, and working order, free
of defects or damage, reasonable wear and tear from the proper use thereof excepted, having been acquired and maintained
in accordance with normal and good business practices and all manufacturer specifications; (f) Buyer will not be
responsible for any fee or commission payable to any person acting on behalf of Seller in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Bill of Sale; and (g) Seller hereby assigns to Buyer all applicable manufacturer and other warranties
and indemnities with respect to the Property. Seller’s representations, warranties and covenants contained herein are
material to Buyer and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Bill of Sale, notwithstanding any disclosure to or
investigation by Buyer. This Bill of Sale shall inure to the benefit of Buyer’s successors and assigns, and be binding upon
Seller’s successors and assigns.
Seller has caused this Bill of Sale to be executed by its duly authorized officer to be effective as of May 25, 2017.

By:
Name:
Title:

LESSEE:
Destination Maternity Corporation
/s/ David R. Stern
David R. Stern
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.10
ORIGINAL
SALE LEASEBACK AGREEMENT
This SALE LEASEBACK AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into to be effective as of May 25, 2017 (the “Effective
Date”), by and between Destination Maternity Corporation (“Seller”), and TFG-New Jersey, L.P. (“Buyer”).
This Agreement is being entered into in connection with that certain Lease Schedule No. DMCR_002, dated May 11, 2017 (the
“Schedule”), to Master Lease Agreement No. 2047981, dated May 11, 2017 (the “Master Lease” and together with the Schedule, as
either may be amended, the “Lease”), by and between Seller, as Lessee, and Buyer, as Lessor. Capitalized terms used but not defined
herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease.
Now, for good and valuable consideration, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1.
Sale. Seller agrees to sell and Buyer agrees to purchase the equipment, machinery, goods and other property more
particularly set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein (collectively, the “Property”), pursuant a Bill of Sale in
the form set forth on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein.
2.
Purchase Price. Buyer shall purchase the Property for a purchase price of $3,400,925.00 (the “Purchase Price”). Seller
shall provide Buyer with all of the purchase documentation associated with Seller’s purchase of the Property from the applicable
vendors (each a “Supplier”), including without limitation the purchase documentation, invoices, and bill of sale provided to Seller.
If Seller has not yet paid the Supplier from whom Seller is purchasing the Property, Buyer shall, at Buyer’s option, pay said Purchase
Price directly to the Supplier, unless otherwise agreed. The Purchase Price shall be payable pursuant to the terms and conditions of
this Agreement and the Lease.
3.
Leaseback. This Agreement and Buyer’s obligations hereunder are subject to and shall become effective only upon (a)
Seller leasing the Property from Buyer pursuant to the Lease; (b) Seller’s execution and delivery to Buyer and Buyer’s subsequent
execution and delivery thereof; and (c) Buyer’s payment of the Purchase Price. In connection therewith, concurrent with the sale
contemplated in this Agreement, Buyer agrees to lease the Property to Seller and Seller agrees to lease the Property from Buyer
pursuant to the Lease, which Property shall then be deemed Leased Property for all purposes thereunder, together with any other
Leased Property, if any. Seller shall at all times bear all risk for any loss or damage to the Property for any reason. Seller shall be
responsible for and hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Buyer harmless for all Taxes arising in connection with the
transactions contemplated in this Agreement, and as more fully set forth in the Lease. Seller shall be entitled to all tax benefits
afforded to an owner of equipment under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
4.
Representations and Warranties. For the purpose of inducing Lessor’s performance under this Agreement, Seller hereby
represents, warrants and covenants to and for the benefit of Buyer that (a) Seller has the right and has taken all actions required by
law, or otherwise, to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, and to carry out its obligations hereunder;
(b) this Agreement constitutes the valid, legal and binding obligations of Seller, strictly enforceable in accordance with its terms, free
from defenses, set-offs and counterclaims, subject only to bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally;
(c) the Lease is hereby ratified and reaffirmed in its entirety, and Seller agrees to pay and perform when due all obligations applicable
to the Lessee thereunder; (d) all representations, warranties, covenants, waivers and releases of Lessee in the Lease are true, accurate
and complete as of the date made, and remain true, accurate and complete, and in full force and effect, as of the date hereof, and are
hereby reaffirmed by Seller and incorporated as if fully set forth herein; (e) all information, statements and representations (oral or
written) furnished by Seller, or on its behalf, are true, accurate, and complete in all material respects, and do not contain any untrue
statement of material fact, or omit to state a fact necessary to make such information, statements and representations not misleading;
(f) all conditions precedent in the Lease have been satisfied; (g) Seller shall convey to Buyer good and valid title to the Property, free
and clear of all Encumbrances; and (h) the Property is, and at the time of closing shall be, located at the location set forth on the
Schedule, in good repair, operating condition, appearance, and working order, free of defects or damage, reasonable wear and tear
from the proper use thereof excepted, having been acquired and maintained in accordance with normal and good business practices
and all manufacturer specifications.
5.
Default. Seller will be in material default under this Agreement, without notice or demand, upon the occurrence of any of
the following (each, an “Event of Default”): (a) the occurrence of any Event of Default, as such term is defined in the Lease, not cured
within the applicable cure period, if any; (b) Seller breaches or fails to timely perform or observe any promise, covenant or obligation
in this Agreement and does not cure the default within 10 days of its occurrence, if susceptible to cure; or (c) Seller breaches any
representation or warranty in this Agreement, or any such representation or warranty shall have been false, inaccurate or misleading
when made.
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6.
Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Buyer may, in its sole discretion, exercise any right or remedy
available to Buyer under this Agreement, the Lease, or applicable law (without penalty, liability or obligation on Buyer’s part and
without limiting any other rights or remedies of Buyer), all of which are hereby incorporated and authorized by Seller.
7.

General.

(a)
Confidentiality. Unless compelled by law, Seller shall not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, disclose the
existence or terms of this Agreement, except that Seller may disclose this Agreement to its attorneys, accountants, affiliates,
employees, representatives or tax advisors if such party reasonably determines it necessary to do so in the course of its business and
such party owes a duty to Seller to keep it confidential.
(b)
No Waiver. No course of dealing on the part of Buyer, nor any delay, failure or discontinuance in the exercise of any
right, power, privilege or remedy by Buyer shall affect or operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any
such right, power, privilege or remedy preclude, waive or otherwise affect any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any
other right, power, privilege or remedy, or any right of Buyer thereafter to demand strict compliance and performance. Any
suspension, waiver, permit, consent or approval of any kind by Buyer of any provisions or conditions hereof, or affecting any right,
power, privilege or remedy of Buyer, must be in writing, specifically identifying the provision, condition, right, power, privilege or
remedy being waived, be signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer, and shall be effective only to the extent set forth in such
writing.
(c)
Assignment. Seller may not assign any rights or obligations under, in and to this Agreement, the Lease or the Leased
Property without the prior written consent of Buyer, in its sole discretion. Any unpermitted assignment, transfer, encumbrance, or
delegation by Seller shall be void ab initio. Buyer may assign all or part of its interests in this Agreement without the consent of
Seller. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of Buyer’s successors and assigns, and be binding upon
Seller’s successors and assigns. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Lessor hereby consents to the merger of
Lessee with and into a wholly-owned subsidiary of Orchestra-Premaman S.A., pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated as of December 19, 2016, on the following terms and conditions: (a) Lessee shall be the surviving entity of such merger; (b)
other than a change in ownership pursuant to such merger, Lessee’s operations, assets and financial condition shall be materially the
same immediately after the consummation of the merger as compared to the moment immediately preceding the consummation of
such merger; (c) this consent is limited to the single merger transaction described herein above and cannot be assigned; and (d) such
merger shall be completed within one (1) year from the date of this Agreement.
(d)
Entire Agreement. Subject to the Lease, this Agreement constitutes the entire, final and exclusive understanding and
agreement of the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes, and may not be contradicted or modified by, any prior
or contemporaneous understandings, negotiations, agreements, representations, promises, statements or the like (oral or written) of
the parties, and no extrinsic evidence whatsoever may be introduced in any legal proceeding involving this Agreement, and may not
be modified or amended except by written agreement signed by the parties; provided, however, that any financing statements or
similar documents filed by Buyer with respect to Seller or the Leased Property shall remain in full force and effect.
(e)
Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue; Jury Waiver . This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of
the State of Utah, regardless of conflicts of law principles. All matters or disputes in any way relating to or arising out of this
Agreement shall be heard exclusively in the state and federal courts in Salt Lake County, Utah, and Seller hereby unconditionally
and irrevocably submits to the exclusive and mandatory jurisdiction and venue of such courts, waives any objection to such
exclusive and mandatory jurisdiction, venue or convenience of forum, and covenants to not initiate any action or proceeding in any
other jurisdiction or venue. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Seller hereby waives all rights to a trial by jury.
(f)
Further Assurances. Seller agrees to cooperate fully with Buyer and shall promptly provide such other information,
and execute, deliver or authenticate to Buyer, without further consideration, such further documents, papers, instruments, assurances,
notices, releases, undertakings, consents, assurances, assistance, agreements and other records, and take such further actions as Buyer
may reasonably request, in Buyer’s sole discretion, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer, as may be useful or
required to effect and/or carry out the purpose and intent of this Agreement and for Buyer to obtain the full benefit of this Agreement
and ability to enforce Buyer’s rights under this Agreement and the Lease.
(g)
Miscellaneous. (i) TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE AS TO SELLER’S OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER; (ii) any recitals
above are hereby incorporated into this Agreement; (iii) notices required hereunder shall be given as set forth in the Lease; (iv) the
headings used herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of

Page 2 of 3

ORIGINAL
any provision hereof; (v) the provisions contained herein shall be independent and severable, and to the fullest extent permitted by
law be interpreted in a manner to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is determined to
be invalid, illegal or unenforceable under the applicable law in any jurisdiction, such provision shall be deemed severed from this
Agreement, shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction or any other provision,
and the balance of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect as originally executed by the parties; (vi) this Agreement may
be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall, in each case, be an original, but all
of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument; (vii) Seller’s representations, warranties and covenants contained
herein are material to Buyer and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, notwithstanding any disclosure to or
investigation by Buyer; and (viii) this Agreement is not intended to benefit any third party, and no third party may claim any right or
benefit or seek to enforce any term hereof.
This Sale Leaseback Agreement has been duly executed to be effective as of the Effective Date set forth above.
BUYER:

SELLER:

TFG-New Jersey, L.P.

Destination Maternity Corporation

By:
/s/ Jordan K. Greenwell
Name: Jordan K. Greenwell
Title: Chief Credit Officer

By:
/s/ David R. Stern
Name: David R. Stern
Title: Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 18.1
June 8, 2017

Destination Maternity Corporation
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have been furnished with a copy of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Destination Maternity Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) for the three months ended April 29, 2017, and have read the Company’s statements contained in Note 13 to the
condensed consolidated financial statements included therein. As stated in Note 13, the Company changed its method of accounting for
gift card breakage income from a method which deferred recognition of gift card breakage income until after it determined that any
legal obligation to report and remit the value associated with abandoned property had been satisfied, to a method that recognizes gift
card breakage income over the period of, and in proportion to, the actual redemptions of gift cards based on the Company’s historical
breakage. Note 13 also states the newly adopted accounting principle is preferable in the circumstances because the new method better
reflects the gift card earnings process resulting in the recognition of gift card breakage income over the period of gift card redemption.
In accordance with your request, we have reviewed and discussed with Company officials the circumstances and business judgment
and planning upon which the decision to make this change in the method of accounting was based.
We have not audited any financial statements of the Company as of any date or for any period subsequent to January 28, 2017, nor
have we audited the information set forth in the aforementioned Note 13 to the condensed consolidated financial statements;
accordingly, we do not express an opinion concerning the factual information contained therein. With regard to the aforementioned
accounting change, authoritative criteria have not been established for evaluating the preferability of one acceptable method of
accounting over another acceptable method. However, for purposes of the Company’s compliance with the requirements of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, we are furnishing this letter. Based on our review and discussion, with reliance on management’s
business judgment and planning, we concur that the newly adopted method of accounting is preferable in the Company’s
circumstances.
Very truly yours,
/s/ KPMG LLP

Exhibit 31.1
SARBANES-OXLEY
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Anthony M. Romano, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Destination Maternity Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
June 8, 2017
Date

/s/ ANTHONY M. ROMANO
Anthony M. Romano
Chief Executive Officer & President

Exhibit 31.2
SARBANES-OXLEY
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, David Stern, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Destination Maternity Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
June 8, 2017
Date

/s/ DAVID STERN
David Stern
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES–OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Destination Maternity Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 29, 2017 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Anthony M. Romano, Chief Executive Officer & President of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ ANTHONY M. ROMANO
Anthony M. Romano
Chief Executive Officer & President
June 8, 2017

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES–OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Destination Maternity Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 29, 2017 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David Stern, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ DAVID STERN
David Stern
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
June 8, 2017

